
 
 

Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1PX 

Tel: 01285 623000 www.cotswold.gov.uk 

 
Tuesday, 8 June 2021 

 

Tel: 01285 623210/623236 

e-mail – democratic@cotswold.gov.uk 

 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 MATTERS) 
 

A meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Licensing Act 2003 Matters) will be held remotely via 

Webex on Wednesday, 16 June 2021 at 4.00 pm. 

 

 
 
Rob Weaver 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Licensing Act 2003 Matters) 

(Councillors Patrick Coleman, Stephen Hirst and Dilys Neill) 

 
 
Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Committee Administrator know prior to the date of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Election of Chair  

To elect a Chair of the Sub-Committee, to serve for the duration of the Meeting. 

 

2.   Apologies  

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations of interest from Members under the Code of Conduct for 

Members. 

 

To receive any declarations of interest from Officers under the Code of Conduct for 

Officers. 

 

4.   Application for a new premises licence - Bathurst Park, Cirencester (Pages 3 - 152) 

To determine a new Premises Licence Application made by BD Events for a location in 

Bathurst Park, Cirencester. 

 

That the Licensing Sub-Committee is asked, in light of the representations received, to 

consider the application and determine whether to:- 

 grant the application as requested; 

 grant the application subject to such conditions that are necessary to promote the 

licensing objectives; 

 refuse the application in whole or in part where it is necessary in order to promote 

the licensing objectives. 

 

Andrea Thomas, Licensing Officer, Tel 01285 623000 

 

 

(END) 

Page 2



 

 

COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 MATTERS) - 16 

JUNE 2021  

Report Number AGENDA ITEM 4 

Subject APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE - BATHURST PARK, 

CIRENCESTER 

Wards affected Abbey 

Accountable member Planning and Licensing Committee 

Accountable officer Andrea Thomas, Licensing Officer  

Tel:  01285 623000  Email: andrea.thomas@publicagroup.uk  

Summary To determine a new Premises Licence Application made by BD Events for a 

location in Bathurst Park, Cirencester. 

Annexes Annex A – Copy of application  

Annex B – Event Management Plan and supporting documents 

Annex C – Site Plan and Location within the Bathurst Estate 

Annex D – Parish Council objections 

Annex E – Copy of objections from residents 

Annex F – Copy of the Licensing Sub-Committee procedures 

Recommendation That the Licensing Sub-Committee is asked, in light of the representations 

received, to consider the application and determine whether to:- 

 grant the application as requested; 

 grant the application subject to such conditions that are necessary to 

promote the licensing objectives; 

 refuse the application in whole or in part where it is necessary in order 

to promote the licensing objectives. 

Corporate priorities  1.1. Ensure that services delivered by the Council are delivered to the highest 

standard 

Key Decision 1.2. No 

Exempt 1.3. No                           

Consultees/ 

Consultation 

1.4. A 28-day consultation has been undertaken with all Responsible Authorities, 

Ward Member, Parish Council and advertised in accordance with the Licensing 

Act 2003. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

mailto:andrea.thomas@publicagroup.uk


  

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. The Licensing Act 2003 allows applicants to apply for new premises licences, premises 

licence variations, club premises certificates and personal licences.  This application is for a 

new premises licence. 

1.2. An application for a new Premises Licence was received on the 21 April 2021, the applicant 

is BD Events and they are represented today by Mr Nicholas Aston. 

1.3. The Licensing Authority are satisfied that the application was duly made, the correct 

notification process was followed and the application was appropriately advertised. The 

advert appeared in the Wilts and Glos Standard on 29 April 2021 and a site notice 

advertising the application was placed in the front of the property for 28 days. 

1.4. The application seeks a Premises Licence for the outside area for the following activities 

and times: 

 Plays  -     Monday to Sunday 0800hrs to 2300hrs 

 Films  -     Monday to Sunday 0800hrs to 2300hrs 

 Live Music -    Monday to Sunday 0800hrs to 2300hrs 

 Recorded Music  -   Monday to Sunday 0800hrs to 2300hrs 

 Performances of Dance -  Monday to Sunday 0800hrs to 2300hrs 

 Late Night Refreshment  -  Monday to Sunday 2300hrs to Midnight 

 

 Supply by retail of alcohol on and off the premises  

Monday to Sunday 1100hrs to 2300hrs 
 

Due to the site being a campsite it will be in operation 24hrs per day. 

 

1.5. A copy of the application is attached at Annex A. A copy of Event Management Plan and 

supporting documents submitted by the Applicant are attached at Annex B. 

 

2. SITE DESCRIPTION 

2.1. A copy of the plans of the site are attached at Annex C. 

 

3. REPRESENTATIONS 

3.1. Responsible Authorities under the Licensing Act 2003 

The following conditions have been submitted by an Environmental Health Officer at 

Cotswold District Council and the Applicant has agreed to these conditions which will form 

part of the Operating Schedule on the Premises Licence: 

 All live and recorded music both indoors and outdoors shall cease promptly at 23:00 

hours. 

 A 'Noise Management Plan' shall be submitted six weeks prior to the event for the 

prior approval of the Licensing Authority. 

3.2. The Applicant has also agreed to further conditions suggested by the Licensing Authority:  

 The films being shown will be limited to an age rating of U, PG & 12A onsite 

 A full site management team to be in place 24hrs a day whilst the site is open to the 

public. 

 

Page 4



 A full child safeguarding and alcohol management policy to be in place. 

 Security will be on site 24hrs which hold the appropriate SIA licences. 

 Traffic Management and Event Management Plan to be submitted to the Cotswold 

ESAG six weeks prior to the event. 

 All bars will operate a Challenge 25 policy. 

 

3.3. Local Ward Member and Parish Council 

A representation has been received from Daglingworth Parish Council. A copy of this is 

attached at Annex D.    

 

3.4. Other Persons 

Residents/Property Owners 

There have been 3 resident/property owner representations received in relation to this 

application. Copies of these representations are attached in Annex E. 

 

3.5.       The concerns raised in the objections are as follows: 

 Traffic, including road safety 

 Parking  

 Planning permission has not been sought 

 Noise emanating from functions 

 Crime and Disorder emanating from alcohol 

 Lack of toilet facilities and style (compost) 

 Disturbance to local wildlife 

 

The Licensing Authority is unable to accept these concerns due to the following reasons. 

 

Traffic, Parking and Area of Natural Beauty 

These concerns cannot be taken into consideration under the Licensing Act 2003 and would 

be dealt with under Planning Law.  Planning and Licensing are two separate jurisdictions and 

it is up to the business operator to ensure that they adhere to both and have necessary 

requirements in place. The Licensing Officer has been in contact with the Planning 

Department at Cotswold District Council and they have confirmed that Planning Consent 

is not required. 

 

Noise 

The Council’s Pollution specialist has agreed conditions as specified in 3.1. 

 

Crime and Disorder concerns 

The Police Licensing Officer has been in contact with the applicant and is happy with the 

Event Management Plans he has seen so far and will continue to work with BD Events. 

 

Page 5



4. NATIONAL GUIDANCE 

4.1. The Secretary of State’s Guidance requires licensing authorities, following receipt of 

relevant representations, to make judgements about what constitutes public nuisance and 

what is necessary, in terms of conditions attached to a specific premises licence, to prevent 

it. 

 

4.2. Where the Act provides for mandatory conditions to be included in a Premises Licence, it 

is the duty of the licensing authority issuing the licence to include those conditions of the 

Licence. 

 

5. PROCEDURES 

5.1. A copy of the procedure for the Meeting is attached at Annex F. 

 

6. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

6.1. Cotswold District Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy – 2016 

6.2. Home Office S.182 Statutory Guidance published April 2018. 

 

(END) 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



 

    Annex A   

 

 Application for a premises licence to be granted  

under the Licensing Act 2003  

  

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST  

  

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form.  If you are 

completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals.  In all cases ensure that your 

answers are inside the boxes and written in black ink.  Use additional sheets if necessary.  

  

You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records.  

  

  

I/We BD Events Limited  

 
         (Insert name(s) of applicant)   

apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises 

described in Part 1 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the 

relevant licensing authority in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003  

  

Part 1 – Premises details  

    

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description  

The Bathurst Estate, c/o Bathurst Estate Office, Cirencester Park, Gloucestershire  

Post town  Cirencester  Postcode  GL7 2BU  

  

Telephone number at premises (if any)      

Non-domestic rateable value of premises  £0  

  

Part 2 - Applicant details  

  

Please state whether you are applying for a premises licence as        Please tick as appropriate  

  

a) an individual or individuals *    please complete section (A)  

b) a person other than an individual *      

Page 7



 

  i  as a limited company/limited liability   please complete section 

(B) partnership   ii  as a partnership (other than limited liability)   please 

complete section (B)   iii  as an unincorporated association or   please 

complete section (B)   iv  other (for example a statutory corporation)  

 please complete section (B) c)  a recognised club   please complete section 

(B)  

d) a charity   please complete section (B)  

e) the proprietor of an educational establishment   please complete section (B)  

f) a health service body   please complete section (B)  

g) a person who is registered under Part 2 of the   please complete section (B)  

 Care Standards Act 2000 (c14) in respect of an       independent hospital 

in Wales      

        

ga)  a person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part    please complete section (B)  

 1 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (within the 

meaning of that Part) in an independent hospital 

in England  

  

h) the chief officer of police of a police force in    please complete section (B) 

England and Wales  

  

* If you are applying as a person described in (a) or (b) please confirm (by ticking yes to one box 

below):      

  

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves the use of the  

 premises for licensable activities; or I am making the application pursuant to a   

  statutory function or    a function discharged by virtue of Her Majesty’s 

prerogative   

  

(A) INDIVIDUAL APPLICANTS (fill in as applicable)  

  

Mr    Mrs    Miss    Ms    

        

Other Title (for 

example, Rev)  
       

  

Surname        First names        

Date of birth                                   I am 18 years old or over    Please tick yes  

Nationality           

Current residential 

address if different from 

premises address  

       

Post town         Postcode         

  

Page 8



 

Daytime contact telephone number         

E-mail address 

(optional)  
       

  

SECOND INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (if applicable)  

  

 Mr    

  

Mrs    

  

 Miss    

    
Ms    

Other Title (for 

example, Rev)  
       

  

Surname    First names  

               

Date of birth                                   I am 18 years old or over     Please tick yes  

Nationality           

Current postal address if 

different from premises 

address  

        

Post town         Postcode         

Daytime contact telephone number          

E-mail address 

(optional)  
       

 

  

  

  

(B) OTHER APPLICANTS  

  

Please provide name and registered address of applicant in full.  Where appropriate please 

give any registered number.  In the case of a partnership or other joint venture (other than a 

body corporate), please give the name and address of each party concerned.  

  

Name  

BD Events Ltd  

Address  

37 Shelton Street, London, United Kingdom, WC2H 9HN  

Registered number (where applicable) 12188394  

Page 9



 

Description of applicant (for example, partnership, company, unincorporated association etc.) 

Limited Company  

Telephone number (if any)  020 

3617 6000  

E-mail address (optional) info@visionninegroup.com  

  

Part 3 Operating Schedule  

 DD  MM  YYYY  

When do you want the premises licence to start?   
  

If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, when DD 

MM YYYY do you want it to end?   

  

  

  

Please give a general description of the premises (please read guidance note 1)  

The site is a green field location based within the grounds of The Bathurst Estate. The site will 

provide temporary tented accommodation and have dedicated areas with food and beverages being 

served. There will also be activity areas with bars playing pre-recorded and live music.   

  

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any  

one time, please state the number expected to attend.    

  

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises?  

  

(please see sections 1 and 14 and Schedules 1 and 2 to the Licensing Act 2003)  

  

Please tick all that  

Provision of regulated entertainment (please read guidance note 2)          
apply  

1  9  0  7  2  0  2  1 

3  1  0  8  2  0  2  1 

       

Page 10



 

a) plays (if ticking yes, fill in box A)   

b) films (if ticking yes, fill in box B)   

c) indoor sporting events (if ticking yes, fill in box C)   

d) boxing or wrestling entertainment (if ticking yes, fill in box D)   

e) live music (if ticking yes, fill in box E)   

f) recorded music (if ticking yes, fill in box F)   

g) performances of dance (if ticking yes, fill in box G)   

anything of a similar description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g)   

h)   

(if ticking yes, fill in box H)  

  

      

      

      

Provision of late night refreshment (if ticking yes, fill in box I)    Supply of alcohol (if 

ticking yes, fill in box J)    

In all cases complete boxes K, L and M 

Page 11



Page 12



A 

  

  

Plays   

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the performance of a play take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick  

(please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  08:00  23:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

Performances to be undertaken where guests can either participate or 

view plays within the site with a family friendly performance or play 

with various performances being amplified and non-amplified   

              

Tue  08:00  23:00  

              

Wed  08:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for performing plays (please read 
guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  08:00  23:00  

              

Fri  08:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the performance of plays at different times to those listed in the 
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)  

No plays are expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  08:00  23:00  

              

Sun  08:00  23:00  

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



B  
  

Films   

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors 

or outdoors or both – please tick (please read 

guidance note 3)   

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  08:00  23:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) The 

event to host big screen experiences to provide entertainment to 

adults and children throughout their stay. All films shown will be 

rated as U, PG or 12A. The performance will be amplified.  

              

Tue  08:00  23:00  

              

Wed  08:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films (please read 
guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  08:00  23:00  

              

Fri  08:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the exhibition of films at different times to those listed in the 
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)  

No films are expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  08:00  23:00  

              

Sun  08:00  23:00  

              

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 14



C 

  

Indoor sporting events  

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Please give further details (please read guidance note 4)        

Day  Start  Finish  

Mon                

              

Tue                State any seasonal variations for indoor sporting events (please 
read guidance note 5)  

                     

Wed                

              

Thur                Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

indoor sporting events at different times to those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)                      

Fri                

              

Sat                

              

Sun                

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



D  
  

Boxing or wrestling 

entertainments  

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the boxing or wrestling entertainment 

take place indoors or outdoors or both – 
please tick (please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon                Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)        

              

Tue                

              

Wed                State any seasonal variations for boxing or wrestling 

entertainment (please read guidance note 5)        
              

Thur                

              

Fri                Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

boxing or wrestling entertainment at different times to those listed 

in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)                      

Sat                

              

Sun                

              

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 16



E 

  

Live music  Standard 

days and timings 

(please read guidance 

note 7)  

Will the performance of live music take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick  

(please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  11:00  23:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) Live 

music will be performed to patrons within the event site at various 

venues. The music is to be aimed at the family audience, with both 

amplified and non-amplified music taking places  

              

Tue  11:00  23:00  

              

Wed  11:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music  

(please read guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  11:00  23:00  

              

Fri  11:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the performance of live music at different times to those listed in 
the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)  

No live music is expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  11:00  23:00  

              

Sun  11:00  23:00  

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



F  
  

Recorded music  

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the playing of recorded music take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick  

(please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  08:00  23:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) Both 

amplified and non-amplified music to be played throughout the 

various venues onsite.                

Tue  08:00  23:00  

              

Wed  08:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for the playing of recorded music  

(please read guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  08:00  23:00  

              

Fri  08:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the playing of recorded music at different times to those listed in 
the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)  

No recorded music is expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  08:00  23:00  

              

Sun  08:00  23:00  

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



G 

  

Performances of dance 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the performance of dance take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick  

(please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  08:00  23:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) Dance 

to be performed within the various venues onsite and as part of the 

planned activities for families as part of their stay. This element 

could be performed to both amplified and non-amplified music.  

              

Tue  08:00  23:00  

              

Wed  08:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance (please 
read guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  08:00  23:00  

              

Fri  08:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the performance of dance at different times to those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) No 

performance of dance is expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  08:00  23:00  

              

Sun  08:00  23:00  

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



H  
  

Anything of a similar 

description to that 

falling within (e), (f) or  

(g)  

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Please give a description of the type of entertainment you will 

be providing        

Day  Start  Finish  Will this entertainment take place indoors or 

outdoors or both – please tick (please read 

guidance note 3)   

Indoors    

Mon                Outdoors    

              Both    

Tue                Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)        

              

Wed                

              

Thur  
              

State any seasonal variations for entertainment of a similar 
description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g)  (please read guidance 

note 5)  

                     

Fri  
              

              

Sat  
              

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the entertainment of a similar description to that falling within 

(e), (f) or (g) at different times to those listed in the column on 

the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)        
              

Sun  
              

              

  

Page 20



 

  I  
  

Late night refreshment 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the provision of late night refreshment 

take place indoors or outdoors or both – 
please tick (please read guidance note 3)    

  

Indoors    

Outdoors    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  23:00  00:00  Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) Late 

night venues throughout the site will offer patrons alcohol, soft 

drinks and food. These will be away from tented accommodation. 

Security teams will be onsite throughout and will monitor sales 

alongside the DPS  

              

Tue  23:00  00:00  

              

Wed  23:00  00:00  State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night 

refreshment (please read guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Thur  23:00  00:00  

              

Fri  23:00  00:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the provision of late night refreshment at different times, to those 
listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 

6)  

No late night refreshemnt is expected outside of the times listed  

              

Sat  23:00  00:00  

              

Sun  23:00  00:00  

              

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

J  
  

Supply of alcohol 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption  

– please tick (please read guidance note 8)    

  

On the 

premises    

Off the 

premises    

Day  Start  Finish  Both    

Mon  11:00  23:00  State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol (please read 

guidance note 5)  

No seasonal variation is expected                

Tue  11:00  23:00  

              

Wed  11:00  23:00  

              

Thur  11:00  23:00  Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises for 

the supply of alcohol at different times to those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) No late 

night refreshemnt is expected outside of the times listed  

              

Fri  11:00  23:00  

              

Sat  11:00  23:00  

              

Sun  11:00  23:00  

              

  

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as 

designated premises supervisor   (Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the 

checklist at the end of the form):  

Name  

Nicholas Edmond Aston  

Date of birth xxxxxxxxxxxx                         

  

Address  

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Postcode  xxxxxxxxxxxx 

Personal licence number (if known)  

LBWands/05419  

Page 22



 

Issuing licensing authority (if known) Wandsworth 

Council  

  

  

  
  

  

K  

  

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or 

matters ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of 
children (please read guidance note 9).  

The films being shown will be limited to an age rating of U, PG & 12A onsite  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

L  

  

Page 23



 

Hours premises are 

open to the public 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7)  

State any seasonal variations (please read guidance note 5) No 

seasonal variation is expected  

Day  Start  Finish  

Mon  00:01  00:00  

              

Tue  00:01  00:00  

              

Wed  00:01  00:00  

              Non standard timings.  Where you intend the premises to be open 

to the public at different times from those listed in the column on 
the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)  

The public will be advised of an opening time of between 08:00 - 

00:00 each day but due to the event being a campsite the venue will 

remain staffed and open for all patrons 24hrs a day whilst in 

operation.  

Thur  00:01  00:00  

              

Fri  00:01  00:00  

              

Sat  00:01  00:00  

              

Sun  00:01  00:00  

              

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

M Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:  

  

a) General – all four licensing objectives (b, c, d and e) (please read guidance note 10)  

A full site management team to be in place 24rs a day whilst the site is open to the public with all 

activity to be fully risk assessed and to be in line with a family campsite. A full child safeguarding 

& alcohol management policy to be in place.   

b) The prevention of crime and disorder  

There will a strict alcohol policy in place across the venues, which will enforced by the bar 

operators alongside 24hr security team onsite. The event will have regular security patrols with 

only patrons with the correct accreditation being allowed onsite  

c) Public safety  

A full risk assessment for activities onsite will be undertaken to ensure suitability. A 24hr security 

presence will be present onsite throughout. There will be a dedicated welfare team onsite to ensure 

the safety of all patrons.  

d) The prevention of public nuisance  

A professional security provider will be appointed to monitor along with Cloud Nine staff all venues 

& the wider site. A strict alcohol management policy to be enforced onsite. A full traffic & noise 

management plan also to be in place to minimise impact  

e) The protection of children from harm  

A child safeguarding policy will be in place onsite with core staff receiving training in safeguarding. 

All bars will operate a challenge 25 policy. All activities onsite will be risk assessed to ensure there 

suitability for a family campsite   

  

 

 

 

Page 25



 

Checklist:  

Please tick to indicate agreement  

      

 I have made or enclosed payment of the fee.   I have enclosed the plan of the premises.   

 I have sent copies of this application and the plan to responsible authorities and others  
 where applicable.  

 I have enclosed the consent form completed by the individual I wish to be designated  
 premises supervisor, if applicable.  

 I understand that I must now advertise my application.   

 I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will  be 

rejected.   

     

[Applicable to all individual applicants, including those in a partnership which is not a   

limited liability partnership, but not companies or limited liability partnerships] I have   

included documents demonstrating my entitlement to work in the United Kingdom   

(please read note 15).  

  

          

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE  

A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE 

WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION 

TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.    

  

IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A  

PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO  

BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF  

THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT  

LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE  

LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION,  

ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE  

SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE 

KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE 

EMPLOYEE IS DISQUALIFIED.   

  

  

Part 4 – Signatures   (please read guidance note 11)  

  

Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent (see guidance 

note 12).  If signing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what capacity.   

  

  

  

Declaration  

             

  

•  The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK 

(and is not subject to conditions preventing him or her from doing work 

relating to a licesable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her 

proof of  entitlement to work, if appropriate (please see note 15)  

        

  

Signature   xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Page 26



 

Date  23.04.21  

Capacity  Operations & Production Manager  

  

For joint applications, signature of 2nd applicant or 2nd applicant’s solicitor or other 

authorised agent (please read guidance note 13).  If signing on behalf of the applicant, please 

state in what capacity.  

  

Signature    

Date         

Capacity         

  

Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence associated with 

this application (please read guidance note 14)        

Post town         Postcode         

Telephone number (if any)         

If you would prefer us to correspond with you by e-mail, your e-mail address (optional)        

  

  

Notes for Guidance  

  

1. Describe the premises, for example the type of premises, its general situation and layout 

and any other information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where 

your application includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for 

consumption of these off-supplies, you must include a description of where the place will 

be and its proximity to the premises.  

2. In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:   

• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any 

day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  

• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in 

community premises  between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the 

audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the screening 

from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each 

such screening abides by age classification ratings.  

• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 

and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.      

• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, 

exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 

08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000. 

Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which 

Page 27



 

combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a 

boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an indoor sporting event.  

• Live music: no licence permission is required for:  

o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on 

any day, on any premises. o  a performance of amplified live music 

between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell 

alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience 

does not exceed 500. o  a performance of amplified live music 

between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not licensed 

to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not 

exceed 500.  o  a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 

and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall, community hall, or 

other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises 

licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 

500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance from a 

person who is responsible for the premises.  

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day, at the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a 

school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 

500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the 

relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the 

school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.  

• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for:  

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on 

premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 

provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 

church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 

premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, 

provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 

organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is 

responsible for the premises.  

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at 

the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or 

(iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and 

(b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant 

premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school 

proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.  

  

• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 

provided that the audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which 

amounts to adult entertainment remains licensable.  

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 

with no limit on audience size for:     

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority 

where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local 

authority;   

o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health 

care provider where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the 

health care provider;   

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and  

o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling 

entertainment) taking place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it 

takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the 

Page 28



 

audience, and (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the 

same site for more than 28 consecutive days.                                                               

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors 

may include a tent).  

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant 

further details, for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified 

or unamplified.  

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days 

during the summer months.  

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a 

particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.  

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the 

week when you intend the premises to be used for the activity.  

8. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the 

premises’.  If you wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the 

premises, please tick ‘off the premises’.  If you wish people to be able to do both, please 

tick ‘both’.  

9. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to 

the use of the premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless 

of whether you intend children to have access to the premises, for example (but not 

exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups or the presence of 

gaming machines.  

10. Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.  

11. The application form must be signed.  

12. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided 

that they have actual authority to do so.  

13. Where there is more than one applicant, each of the applicants or their respective agent 

must sign the application form.  

14. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.  

  

15. Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications 

from partnerships which are not limited liability partnerships:  

  

A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident 

in the UK who:   

• does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or   

• is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the 

carrying on of a licensable activity.   

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will 

become invalid if the holder ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.  

  

Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not 

subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a 

licensable activity. They do this by providing with this application copies or scanned copies 

of the following documents (which do not need to be certified).   

Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK  

  

• An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport 

as the child of the holder, is a British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies 

having the right of abode in the UK [please see note below about which sections of the 

passport to copy].  

  

• An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a 

person named in the passport as the child of the holder, is a national of a European 

Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

Page 29



 

  

• A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the 

Home Office to a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

  

• A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a 

national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

  

• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by 

the Home Office to the holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay 

indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK.  

  

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration 

control, is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or 

has no time limit on their stay in the UK.  

  

• A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder 

with an endorsement indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in 

the UK or has no time limit on their stay in the UK, when produced in combination 

with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number 

and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.  

  

• A full birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK which includes the name(s) of at 

least one of the holder’s parents or adoptive parents, when produced in combination 

with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number 

and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.  

  

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland 

when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s 

permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency 

or a previous employer.  

  

• A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in 

combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National 

Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous 

employer.  

  

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and 

is currently allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder 

from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.  

  

• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by 

the Home Office to the holder which indicates that the named person can currently 

stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to the carrying on of a licensable 

activity.  

  

• A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a 

national of a European Economic Area state or Switzerland but who is a family 

member of such a national or who has derivative rights or residence.  

   

• A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home 

Office to the holder with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in 

the UK, and is allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder 

from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity when produced in 

combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National 

Page 30



 

Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous 

employer.  

  

• A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office 

under regulation 17(3) or 18A (2) of the Immigration (European Economic Area) 

Regulations 2006, to a  person who is not a national of a European Economic Area  

state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has 

derivative rights of residence.   

  

• Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their 

permission to be in the UK with the Home Office such as the Home Office 

acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or reasonable evidence that the 

person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration decision, 

such as an appeal or administrative review reference number.  

  

• Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area 

state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has 

derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in the UK including:-   

  

• evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,   

• evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member – e.g. 

a marriage certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and  

• evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent residence 

in the UK or is one of the following if they have been in the UK for more than 3 

months:  

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer,  

(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank, (iii) 

studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of 

sufficient funds; or  

(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements.  

  

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially 

independent must also provide evidence that the European Economic Area national and any 

family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the UK. This can include a private 

medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form.  

  

Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a 

passport, a copy of the following pages should be provided:-  

  

(i) any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality;  

(ii) any page containing the holder’s photograph; (iii) any page 

containing the holder’s signature;  

(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and  

(v) any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in 

the UK and is permitted to work.  

  

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided.  

  

Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us 

checking your immigration status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information 

with the Home Office. Your licence application will not be determined until you have complied 

with this guidance.    

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  1 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Bathurst Glamping Resort 2021 
 Event Safety Management Plan V3 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

© Redwood Event Solutions. This document has been produced exclusively for the Vision 9 and the Cloud 9 
glamping series 2021. This document remains the intellectual property of the author, namely Redwood Event 

Solutions. This document and the details herein, is valid for the above event and 2021 only. This document may 
not be reproduced, distributed, copied, hosted, transmitted in whole or in part without prior written consent and 

or agreed licence from the author.

Document prepared by: Redwood Event Solutions 

Document prepared on behalf of: Vision 9  

Checked by: Nick Aston and Emily Muirhead  

Version dated: V3 - 15.04.2021  

Page 33



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  2 

Executive summary and venue specific updates: 

1.1 This executive summary page will be used throughout the planning and 

delivery stages of the Cloud 9 glamping event series to provide an overview 

of significant or specific changes to safety management plans and 

arrangements for individual premises and locations.   

1.2 This section should be used to apprise the reader on future iterations and 

updates. It should not however, be referred to as a stand-alone document 

without having read the full plan or the relevant section(s) in the first 

instance.  

1.3 This section will serve to outline significant changes and amends for ease 

of navigation. 

1.4 It will be updated as the event planning progresses, and feedback / input 

is received.  

1.5 This document (V2) is the initial draft version for comment and review by 

all relevant parties and stakeholders involved in the operational delivery 

and management of the event. Next versions of this plan will include 

comments and feedback from local SAG representatives and updates as 

planning for the event continues.  

  

Page 34



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  3 

Contents 

Executive summary and venue specific updates: 2 

Event Overview 7 

Alcohol and Bars 15 

Notional Capacities against Site 20 

Audience Demographic 23 

Operations 24 

Event Control Team 39 

Emergency Services and the Local Authority 45 

Event Safety Planning and Management 47 

Temporary Structures and Site Infrastructure 54 

Traffic Management 60 

Fire Safety 66 

Security 71 

Alcohol and Drugs Policy 73 

Medical, Ambulance and First Aid 75 

Waste Management 77 

Temporary Water 78 

Tree Survey 79 

Incident Procedures 80 

Lost/Found Children & Vulnerable Persons 85 

Cancellation and Evacuation Procedure 89 

Major Incidents 91 

Counter Terrorism Strategy 93 

Media Management 101 

Appendix 1. Site Plans 102 

Appendix 2. Red Routes 104 

Appendix 3. Traffic Routes around Bathurst Estate 105 

Appendix 4. Alcohol Policy 106 

Appendix 5. Drugs Policy 107 

Page 35



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  4 

This Document 
2.1 This document - the Event Safety Management Plan (ESMP) has been 

produced as the overarching safety document for the Cloud 9 (C9) 

glamping event series presented by BD Events Ltd.  

2.2 This paper specifically relates to the Bathurst event taking place at the 

Bathurst Estate in Cirencester. This may be referred to as the Cotswold 

event by the organisers and on marketing / social media platforms.  

2.3 This plan will cover the minimum level of safety arrangements and controls 

which shall be in place at the glamping / event sites. 

2.4 The ESMP has been drawn up by Redwood Event Solutions (RES), 

specifically for the C9 Glamping Event series 2021 and at the request of BD 

Events Ltd as the overall event organisers.  

2.5 The authors of this document shall require the input and review from all 

key stakeholders and event participants and all such feedback and detail 

shall be included in further iterations of this safety management plan.  

2.6 The key objective of this plan is to provide regulatory authorities 

stakeholders and other relevant parties with a single source of information 

focusing on health and safety at each of the resorts. This includes, but not 

limited including a clear outline of how operations, contingencies and 

emergency situations will be handled at each of the resorts as well as 

providing an overview of general safety arrangements in place during the 

build, operational and breakdown periods of each of the resorts.  

2.7 Each of the C9 event locations will be subject to application of the relevant 

Premises License which will define the event location and footprint, event 

Page 36



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  5 

content and audience capacity as well as clearly outlining how each of the 

four licensing objectives shall be met and managed at each location.  

2.8 This ESMP has been developed with reference to relevant guidance and 

legislation.  

2.9 A site plan will be included to show the locations of key event infrastructure 

and production areas including access and egress points.  

2.10 * Note that site plans within the ESMP are provided for reference only will 

remain live working documents, as such the organiser and authors of this 

paper reserve the right to amend and or update such plans. Iterations shall 

be given in each instance.  

2.11 The site plans should be used as a tool to gauge an overall understanding 

of the event site and progressing plans through iterations. As with any 

event or live event, plans change, improvements are made, and layouts are 

re-designed.  

2.12 The Event Organisers will commit to issuing the necessary drafts and final 

versions of the ESMP as required under the different premises license at 

each location and / or as required by the SAG attendees with each Local 

Authority.  

2.13 The ESMP will be opened for feedback and advice given from the SAG 

group. It is envisaged that the various SAG’s group shall agree the ESMP in 

principle and in writing no less than 4 weeks before the event start date 

(subject to confirmation from individual local authorities).  

2.14 The ESMP will form part of a wider suite of safety documentation including 

but not limited to: 

Page 37



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  6 

• Emergency Evacuation Plan – Site / Location specific 

• Risk Assessments - (overall for each show delivery plus specific venue 

/ event risk assessments as required) 

• C19 Specific RA’s – In line with relevant guidance and road maps  

• Fire Risk Assessment – Site / Location specific 

• Wind / Severe weather Management Plan 

2.15 These documents will be made available to the individual authority, 

relevant authorities, and stakeholders via an online safety portal. This is a 

secured portal used by RES to host all current and future iterations of safety 

docs.  

2.16 Overall responsibility for the planning and delivery of the C9 resorts, and 

for meeting duties under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the 

Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 (and related 

legislation), remains with BD Events Ltd.  

2.17 Responsibility for meeting duties under the Licensing Act 2003 will remain 

with BD Events Ltd, supported by other parties onsite as required, namely 

the nominated security providers at each location.  

  

Page 38



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  7 

Event Overview 

The Event 

3.1 BD events produced the C9 glamping event across 2020 and to great effect. 

The original event took place in Dorset and offered families and friends the 

ultimate glamping mini break in a beautiful location.  

3.2 The 2021 series of resorts builds on the foundation from 2020 and the 

lessons learned through operating resorts in the covid 19 landscape. The 

C9 glamping event by its very nature is modular and as such has 

contingency in being able to react and adapt to relevant C19 controls and 

HM Gov roadmaps.  

3.3 The C9 Bathurst event takes place in the beautiful ground the of Bathurst 

Estate that presents some 15,000 acres of parks, woodlands, and 

farmlands. The C9 event will be nestled well within the estate. The 

proposed site is shown below and overlaid against the estate. 

 

  

Page 39



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  8 

3.4 The red outline delineates the proposed licensed site. 

3.5 The glamping site will be opened to guests from the 19th July up to and 

including the 30th August 2021. The breakdown of dates aligned to event 

phases is given below.  

• Build Phase – 12th – 19th July  

• Glamping Site open – 19th July to 30th August  

• De-Rig Phase – 31st August to 3rd September  

3.6 The Event Organisers reserve the right to change and or amend these dates 

and are subject to revision following local authority consultation.  

3.7 Typical open day timings are given below. 

• Standard Operating Hours  

o 08:00 to 00:00 each day  

• Bars and Concessions Close  

o By 23:00  

• Late Night Refreshment  

o 23:00 – 00:00 each night  
Note: times are correct at the time of publish but the organisers reserve the right to 

amend accordingly. 

3.8 The Bathurst / Dorset event proposes some 250 pitches across the site and 

across a variation of accommodation from bell tents to airstreams and 

safari tents. Further details of accommodation are given further within this 

paper.  

3.9 A notional capacity can be arrived at by modelling a foreseeable number 

of persons per pitch and is given as: 

Page 40



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  9 

 

3.10 The proposed number of staff and contractors should also be considered 

at this stage. This is given as: 

 

3.11 Therefore, a notional capacity of some 1300 persons at any one time is 

offered specifically for the Bathurst 2021 proposed event.  

3.12 The demographic of patron if very much family orientated and offers an 

outdoor experience aligned to family values and tastes. This type of 

glamping experience is highly likely to be popular across the hospitality 

sector and provides an incredible opportunity for young families to 

experience beautiful settings within the UK and given the modular aspects 

of this event model, some resilience to a dynamic C19 landscape.  

The Customer Journey  

3.13 To provide a detailed overview / image of the event it is perhaps useful to 

travel the customer experience at C9.  

3.14 The C9 glamping site operates in a similar way to most campsites, just with 

the very best that the UK’s beautiful outdoors can muster and delivered in 

a way that only a leading events and festivals company can.  

3.15 This experience provides the perfect balance of outdoor family adventures, 

and proper, spoil-yourself relaxation. This experience is curated for families 

by families, there are endless activities and escapades designed families 

and loved ones in mind. 

No of Pitches Persons / Pitch Total 
250 4 1000

Staff & Crew Total 
300 300

Page 41



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  10 

3.16 The journey for our guests: 

• Once booked, guests are contacted to book in for their arrival and 

departure times. This is achieved in advance of anyone coming to 

site 

o Check in happen every Mon & Fri from 15:00 onwards  

o Check outs happen every Mon & Fri guests must bid us 

farewell by 10:00  

• Guests will arrive by car and onto the Bathurst event via the estates 

main entrance and via Cecily Hill.  

• They will then make their way onto site and pick up the C9 branded 

wayfinding signage.  

• This will direct them to the north west of the estate and up to the 

C9 glamping site.  

• Cars will be met and parked within the customer parking area and 

families / groups make their way to the reception.  

• Buggies are hailed to meet our families and friends and transport 

them and their luggage, to their chosen home for their stay.  

o There are some 25 buggies onsite and some with trailers to 

manage our inbound and outbound guests.  

• Once delivered safely to their chosen accommodation our guest 

can unpack and get used to their new glamping pad for their stay. 

o Pitches have a 15m separation. 

Page 42



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  11 

o This is conducive of the intended experience.  

o Also provides added resilience from a C19 safety 

perspective and if the event has to retrofit relevant C19 

controls and arrangements.  

• Groups can book together and as such their grouped pitches may 

be pitched closer together but still allowing for 10m separation 

from their newly formed pod to our next guest pitches. 

• There is a plastic / temporary toilet unit positioned to the back of 

each pitch. 

• Once checked in and settled the fun can begin. Families can pre 

book activities in advance or visit the activities hub on site to gather 

a little more info and book their experiences.  

• The bars and restaurants are open across the day and ready to look 

after our guests every whim. 

•  When it is time to pack down and leave, our guests will again be 

met by our campsite teams and with a buggy and trailer to take 

them back to the guest car park.  

o The check-out will have been booked in advance which gives 

the organisers site of requirements and the ability to align 

resource accordingly  

o The 25 buggies also mean there can be no more than 25 

families at any one time in the car park / reception facility.  

Page 43



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  12 

• Our guests make their way home and the C9 team refreshing, 

cleans, restocks and ready themselves for the next inbound families 

and friends.  

The Accommodation 

3.17 There is an array of accommodation options presented guests and to suit 

all budgets. They comprise of the following: 

 

 

• Standard Bell Tent 5m- 

 

 

 

• Classic Bell Tent 6m -  

 

 

• Luxury Bell Tents, as above but with bells and whistles, beds, power, 

sheets and so on. 

 

• Two Bedroom Luxury Bell Tent - 

 

Page 44



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  13 

 

• Airstreams 

 

 

 

• Nordic Double Tee Pee  

 

 
• Safari tents, the ultimate experience including ensuite bathroom, 

king size bed, private terrace, and hot tub. 

 

 

 

 

3.18 All the accommodation options and details can be viewed via the website. 

https://cloudnineglamping.com/cotswolds/stay/?pge=3  

  

Page 45



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  14 

Activities  

3.19 There are a range of pre bookable family activities available at C9. The 

activities are designed to celebrate the outdoor lifestyle of the event 

specifically aimed at families. Activities include silent discos, bushcraft, a 

spa, horse riding and den building to name but a few.  

3.20 The full list of activities can be found on the website and via: 

https://cloudnineglamping.com/cotswolds/activities/?pge=2  

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

3.21 The activities on offer are bespoke in nature and at times, required skilled 

and competent operators. As such the activities being included within the 

event are subject to each individual’s safety controls and arrangements. 

These should be considered alongside this paper and viewed upon request.  

Page 46



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  15 

3.22 The safety controls, arrangements and insurances will be collated in all 

instances and scrutinised by the C9 operations teams. These will be held 

on file and made available for inspection upon request.  

The Food and Drink  

3.23 C9 will offer some the UK’s very best street food, local producers, and pop-

up bars. There will be permanently positioned restaurant facilities across 

the campsite and augmented with pop up catering installations, food 

trucks and bars.  

3.24 Kitchens and catering installations will be positioned and set up to 

minimise unnecessary distribution of the resort’s resources (power, grey 

water collection, gas etc.). 

3.25 All such resource will be in fenced, controlled / back of house areas and 

away from public access.  

Alcohol and Bars 

3.26 Bar concessions and installations will be handpicked and carefully placed 

around the event to offer guests refreshment and social watering holes 

from which to enjoy the show.  

3.27 Rather than focus on volume, the offer is one of high-end experience and 

covers fine wines, cocktails, craft ale, craft gins and ciders. 

3.28 The Event Organisers will engage a number of bars and outlets from local 

and national suppliers.  

3.29 The event has developed an Alcohol Policy and a Sensible Drinking Policy. 

Both are given to the appendices of this document and will be circulated 

Page 47



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  16 

to exhibitors, bar operators and those selling alcohol in advance of arrival 

on site.  

3.30 All bar operations are required to read, sign, and adhere to all of the 

controls within the C9 alcohol policy in advance of trading. Signed 

declarations will be collected in advance of opening doors. Any bar 

operations not meeting the standards therein will not be permitted to 

trade. This will be monitored and reviewed throughout the event phase. 

Please reference the alcohol policies and supporting docs within the 

appendices for further details. 

3.31 All bar contractors are engaged well in advance of coming to site and the 

controls with the above policies communicated.  

Alcohol Management against Licensable Objectives 

3.32 The above section gives the overview of the content and creative aspects 

of the offer. BD Events Ltd C9 recognises their legal and moral reasonability 

to manage alcohol consumption across the site and promote responsible 

drinking where appropriate.  

3.33 C9 has a nominated and registered DPS and they (or their nominated 

deputy) will be present onsite throughout the live phase. They will oversee 

and manage the activities of the bar and outlet operations and their 

compliance.  

3.34 C9 will manage a multi-tiered control with relevant contractors being 

engaged at the procurement stage and key controls / arrangements being 

communicated out.  

3.35 All bar operators receive a welcome letter clearly detailing: 

Page 48



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  17 

• The DPS, contact details and their role on site 

• The proactive role in upholding licensing conditions 

• The requirement to minimise impact on the venues, park areas, 

any local residents and businesses etc 

3.36 The advance letter will be accompanied with key alcohol management 

documents including: 

• A copy of the premise license – To be displayed in a prominent 

position at the stand and during the show. 

• The Responsible Alcohol Policy – Clear lays out controls around 

open vessel sales, sampling, requirements by law and importantly, 

how we expect on exhibitors and contractors to behave. This 

information is to be read, understood and disseminated out to all 

relevant staff. See policy in the appendices for further detail.  

3.37 The Event Organisers require all bar operators to:  

• Appoint a manager of the stand / unit who must have a personal 

license (the information of which is required in advance). That 

representative must be on the stand throughout service hours. 

• Run and manage the challenge 25 policy – ensuring that all staff 

are briefed as to how this operates, to have correct signage in place 

and refusal logs. Wristbands are issued to bar staff to accredit 

persons that they have successfully age verified.  

• Ensure that alcohol service ceases at least 15 minutes before the 

end of each day.  

Page 49



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  18 

• Not serve anyone who appears to be under the influence of too 

much drink or their companions if suspected of buying drinks for 

those already under the influence. 

  

Page 50



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  19 

The Bathurst Estate and C9 Event Site 

4.1 BD Events Ltd have taken all reasonable efforts to ensure that each C9 site 

is suitable to host a C9 resort so far as is reasonably practicable. The Resort 

Organisers take full responsibility for ensuring the sites can suitably 

accommodate proposed capacities whilst ensuring the provision and 

installation of the necessary items and infrastructure for the various 

elements of the resort. 

4.2 The Bathurst estate presents a significant amount of land to play with and 

is well versed in hosting visiting event organisers. Previous events include 

horse trials, alfresco cinema, county shows and Dogfest.  

4.3 The Bathurst site has a proven ability to host such events with areas of hard 

standing, access routes and some existing services such as power and 

water. 

4.4 In any inclement weather conditions, the sites will be appropriately 

managed to preserve the ground so far as reasonably practicable. Public 

and vehicle routes in and around site, monitored, transferred and or re-

routed (where possible). 

  

Page 51



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  20 

Notional Capacities against Site  

4.5 As part of the venue specific emergency evacuation procedures, a plan 

shall be developed and modelled to show the site in both normal and 

emergency conditions to suitably test the capability of each site and the 

area(s) available for audience circulation, access and egress.  

4.6 The C9 Bathurst resort has applied for a licensed capacity of <5000 persons 

at any one time. The notional capacity being proposed for the 2021 

Bathurst resort is given as: 

 

4.7 It is important to consider and model to the proposed Bathurst site’s 

capacity to receive and accommodate the resort.  

4.8 The proposed C9 site within the Bathurst estate equates to some 

850,000m2 of space. This is clearly a significant footprint and has been 

taken from the AutoCad DWG file and as such is measurable and to scale.  

4.9 This is the overall area of the site and the area being applied for by license, 

it is useful at this conjuncture to model the publicly accessible areas against 

notional capacity.  

4.10 This is shown to the model below and again taken from the AutoCad site 

plans. The area in pink denotes the publicly accessible area. Note this 

excludes the woods. This area equals 250,000m2 

No of Pitches Persons / Pitch Total 
250 4 1000

Staff & Crew Total 
300 300

1300Combined Total 

Page 52



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  21 

 

4.11 Clearly there are various infrastructure, structures and installations that 

take up footprint and should be subtracted from the available footprint. 

The site plan is still a live document, as such it makes sense to subtract 

increasing percentages of footprint to model notional capacities against 

usable footprint.  

4.12 This table shows percentage reductions in usable footprint against notional 

capacity. The table also model people per meter (ppm) as densities.  

 

4.13 Even modelling 0.5ppm and with an 80% reduction in footprint, the site 

has the capacity to accommodate some 25,000 persons at any one time.  

Floor Total Area (m2) 0.5 PPM 1 PPM 1.5 PPM 2 PPM 2.5 PPM 3 PPM 3.5 PPM 4 PPM
PA Areas 250,138                         125,069         250,138         375,207         500,276         625,345         750,414         875,483         1,000,552      

Reduction - 40% 150,083                         75,041           150,083         225,124         300,166         375,207         450,248         525,290         600,331         
Reduction - 50% 125,069                         62,535           125,069         187,604         250,138         312,673         375,207         437,742         500,276         
Reduction - 60% 100,055                         50,028           100,055         150,083         200,110         250,138         300,166         350,193         400,221         
Reduction - 70% 75,041                           37,521           75,041           112,562         150,083         187,604         225,124         262,645         300,166         
Reduction - 80% 50,028                           25,014           50,028           75,041           100,055         125,069         150,083         175,097         200,110         

Publically Accessible Areas - Excluding Woods 

Page 53



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  22 

4.14 Therefore, it is entirely reasonable to suggest that the proposed Bathurst 

site has significant capacity and contingency to accommodate the notional 

2021 capacity.  

4.15 The resort is ticketed, and tickets are purchased in advance and accounted 

for / reported on constantly. The C9 management team always have access 

to ticket sales and can gauge sales against notional capacity and resource.  

4.16 The nature of the glamping resorts, i.e., longer tenure and no one specific 

highlight or feature means that arrival and departure can be dispersed 

rather than concentrated in one key date / time.  

  

Page 54



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  23 

Audience Demographic 

5.1 The demographic of the C9 resorts will be celebratory, compliant, and 

relatively low maintenance regarding Crowd Dynamics. 

5.2 This was borne out by crowd dynamic experienced at the 2020 Dorset 

resort. This is a family glamping experience and the behaviours 

experienced were entirely foreseeable and presented no significant issues 

for the security and or crowd management teams. 

5.3 Using a simple crowd management measure of 1 being sedate and 

compliant and 10 being raucous and unruly, the C9 resorts line-up is given 

a score of 2.  The audience is good-natured, predominantly group / family 

based and compliant.  

  

Page 55



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  24 

Operations 

6.1 BD Events Ltd will be responsible for the overarching production and 

operational management of all aspects of the C9 Bathurst Resort. They 

shall engage reputable and competent contractors and suppliers to assist 

with the construction, delivery, cleansing and breakdown of the resort.  

6.2 Set out below are the operational roles and responsibilities for the key 

positions within the C9 Management Team as appointed by BD Events.  

These roles may be augmented or reduced as appropriate.  

6.3 Final decisions regarding resort delivery, the enactment of contingency 

plans and so on shall rest with C9 Senior Management and or their 

nominated Deputies. 

6.4 The onsite safety role and responsibility thereof will reside with the C9 Site 

Manager. For clarity, there is no external safety advisor contracted to be 

onsite for all the build, delivery, and de-rig phases.  

6.5 The contracted safety advisor shall visit the site at the end of the build 

period and to ready the site for final sign off. This will include an inspection 

of all TDS, infrastructure services such as water and power and an overall 

site sign off. This will be documented and sent the C9 Operations and Site 

Managers ahead of opening to guests.  

  

Page 56



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  25 

6.6 Event Director – Ben Childs – BD Events Ltd 

• Overall responsibility for the resort and all activities taking place on 

the licensed resort site. The controlling mind. 

• Key and main point of contact between Local Authorities and all 

enforcing / regulatory bodies regarding the resort. 

• Overall decision-maker for initiating contingency plans such as an 

incident requiring show stop, evacuation of the site or cancellation of 

the resort. 

• Ensure sufficient resources are made available for the safe 

presentation of the resort. 

• Selection and provision of all show content 

• Selection and provision of all marketing content 

  

Page 57



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  26 

6.7 Operations Director – Sam Watkins- BD Events Ltd  

• Principal point of contact for all relevant agencies.  

• Overall responsibility for production, infrastructure, and site 

operations. 

• Oversee the procurement and contractual appointment of suitable 

competent contractors. 

• Oversee the procurement and contractual appointment of suitable 

Exhibitors and Concessions. 

• To oversee the collation all relevant documentation (insurances, risk 

assessments, methods statements, training certification etc.) from all 

contractors, caterers and exhibitors. 

• To scrutinize and check the validity, suitability and sufficiency of 

contractor, caterer and exhibitor documentation and controls.     

• Responsible for ensuring stakeholder liaison and consultation 

including; attendance at SAG meetings etc. 

• Planning for the safe ingress and egress of public attending the resort. 

• To ensure the procurement and timely dissemination of the locations 

of any buried or overheads services within the site footprint.  

• To communicate the above to the Site Designer and Safety Officer at 

the nearest opportunity. 

• To actively manage and ensure sufficient resource is in place to meet 

the licensing objectives and agreed conditions. 

• To assist the appointed safety management company (Redwood 

Event Solutions) in the development of the ESMP. 

• Oversee delivery and installation of all production infrastructures.  

• Consultation on the production of comprehensive site plans. 

• Timely circulation of all relevant site plans to the C9 Management 

team 

Page 58



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  27 

• To ensure that C9 Operations are co-ordinated in a safe and consistent 

manner alongside relevant Bathurst Estate Activities / Operations. 

• Oversee and manage the activities of the Site Manager and Site Crew. 

• Oversee and manage the activities of site contractors. 

• To oversee manage and record the delivery of Safety Site Inductions 

for all C9 contractors.  

• Liaison and contractual management with the landowner.  

  

Page 59



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  28 

6.8 Health & Safety Advisor – Jim Davey– Redwood Event Solutions 

• To advise BD Events and the key management team for C9, on issues 

relating to the health and safety of contractors, employees, and the 

public. 

• To assist C9 with the co-compilation of ESMP, Risk Assessments and 

other relevant safety documentation. 

• Oversee development of suitable contingency and emergency plans 

per C9 site. 

• Attend any meetings and briefings relating to resort safety 

management including SAG, emergency service meetings as and when 

contracted to do so by BD Events Ltd. 

• To attend site towards the end of the build phase and to carry out 

safety monitoring inspections prior to opening to guests, including 

review of Sign-off and Completion Certificates where appropriate 

obtained via the resort Site / Safety Manager.  

Note: this will only be achieved on the contractual days present on site, 

at times when the safety advisor is not on site, responsibility shall fall 

to the Site Manager and Operations team to oversee the safety 

management of C9.  

• To support the C9 operations team remotely through any RIDDOR 

reportable incidents and advise accordingly.  

• The Safety Advisor shall not be responsible for the H&S arrangements 

of independent contractors (i.e., Exhibitors, Caterers, and content 

providers) and or the training of their employees. Such employers 

shall be wholly responsible for discharging their duties under the 

Health and Safety at Work act 1974 and related legislation.   

Page 60



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  29 

• In consultation with the Operations Director & Site Manager(s), to 

take such actions as deemed necessary to ensure compliance with 

statutory health and safety duties. 

• Assist in the development of and conduct safety briefings for C9 Staff 

and Contractors. 

Note: this will only be achieved on the contractual days present on site, 

at times when the Safety Adviser is not on site, responsibility shall fall 

to the Site Manager and Operations team to oversee the safety 

management of C9.  

• Liaise with Enforcing Authorities in advance and on site to provide 

such information and assistance as is required to fulfil their statutory 

duties, SFARP. 

• Ensure any incident or accident is appropriately reported, logged and 

investigated (including any reporting that may be required under 

RIDDOR). Note; this will only be achieved on the contractual days 

present on site, the Operations Manager and or Site Manager shall 

fulfil this duty in the absence of the SSO. 

• To host the SAG, walk around before the site opens and to field any 

resultant questions from regulatory, enforcing and local authorities.  

• To enact the safety management systems and plans within this ESMP 

and other C9 relevant safety docs through all phases of the resort. This 

applies to normal operational and emergency phases.  

• To monitor on site safety performance and working practices of 

relevant contractors against their presented H&S arrangements and 

controls.  

• To investigate and report upon relevant accidents, near misses and 

incidents and to review relevant safety controls and arrangements 

thereafter. 

Page 61



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  30 

• Production of post event report outlining procedures followed in the 

event of any incident on site. 

  

Page 62



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  31 

6.9 Site Manager – BD Events Ltd - Tbc 

This role shall encompass and discharge duties under site management and 

safety during all phases of the resort, namely build, live and derig. As such, 

both the site manager and safety roles and responsibilities are detailed 

herein.  

Site Manager R&R’s 

• To build the site as per agreed site plans and schedules and ensure all 

access and egress routes are in place and maintained as part of the 

site plan  

• To consider and manage the effective build of safety critical elements 

of the site such as sufficient usable footprints and the location and 

capacities of required exits, both normal and emergency portals.  

• To directly manage all zone / area managers and site crew. 

• To manage the safe and timely operations of all appointed contractors 

on site. 

• To ensure that all contractors and exhibitors have undertaken the 

safety induction before starting any works onsite. 

• To monitor, review and report on the effectiveness of all works and 

schedules / plans onsite. Report to Operations Director.  

• Obtain all relevant sign off and completion certificates from sub-

contractors providing temporary structures, stages, temporary water 

and electrical supplies etc  

• To liaise directly with all Exhibitors and Concessions as to the location 

of pitches, supply of services and build / break operations.  

• To report any incidents and or matters pertaining to safety directly to 

BD events / C9 Senior Management.   

Page 63



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  32 

• To assist in monitoring site security locations, operations, and the 

effectiveness thereof.  

• To make available and manage all relevant resource in emergency or 

contingency arrangements / plans.  

 

Site Manager - Safety specific roles and responsibilities  

• To work proactively as part of the C9 safety team, alongside the 

operations managers to manage the safety aspects of C9. 

• To effectively implement all relevant controls as laid out in the C9 

safety documentation. Specifically, the ESMP, RA’s. Emergency 

Evacuation Plan, FRA and Severe Weather Management plan. 

• Liaise with Enforcing Authorities on site to provide such information 

and assistance as is required, from a safety perspective, to fulfil their 

statutory duties, SFARP. This shall be achieved alongside the C9 

Operations team and should be reported / logged.  

• To work with relevant contractors to achieve sign of certification and 

as per relevant legislation and guidance, primarily with all TDS, power 

and water contractors. Such sign offs should be sought from the 

relevant contractors and filled within the C9 files / portals.  

• Ensuring any incident or accident is appropriately reported, logged 

and investigated (including any reporting that may be required under 

RIDDOR) 

• The Site Manager shall not be responsible for the H&S arrangements 

of independent contractors (i.e. Exhibitors, Caterers and content 

providers) and or the training of their employees. Such employers 

shall be wholly responsible for discharging their duties under the 

Health and Safety at Work act 1974 and related legislation.   

Page 64



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  33 

• In consultation with the Operations, to take such actions as deemed 

necessary to ensure compliance with statutory health and safety 

duties. 

• To carry out safety briefings for C9 staff and or contractors across all 

phases of the resort, e.g. a safety overview of performance and tasks 

/ conditions ahead at the daily production meetings.  

• To monitor the weather in line with the severe weather management 

plana and to enact required controls in line with the plan.  

• Ensure any incident or accident is appropriately reported, logged and 

investigated (including any reporting that may be required under 

RIDDOR). Note; this will only be achieved on the contractual days 

present on site, the Operations Manager and or Site Manager shall 

fulfil this duty in the absence of the SSO. 

• To enact the safety management systems and plans within this ESMP 

and other C9 relevant safety docs through all phases of the resort. This 

applies to normal operational and emergency phases.  

• To monitor on site safety performance and working practices of 

relevant contractors against their presented H&S arrangements and 

controls.  

• To investigate and report upon relevant accidents, near misses and 

incidents and to review relevant safety controls and arrangements 

thereafter. 

• Production of post event report outlining procedures followed in the 

event of any incident on site. 

  

Page 65



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  34 

6.10 Head of Security / Stewarding – Principal Protection Ltd 

• Deploy such resources as are necessary to maintain the integrity of 

the resort sites, manage access arrangements and queuing areas. 

• To provide a competent, approachable and customer facing approach 

to all public interactions and to always act in the best interests of BD 

Events Ltd and the C9 resort audience.  

• To ensure the effective enactment of any search policy and guard 

against prohibited items.  

• Manage access to the resort sites generally and specific areas within 

the site. 

• Ensure any issues or incidents arising from or reported to stewards 

and security personnel are communicated to the Head of Security for 

action or logging where appropriate. 

• Ensure accurate dissemination of any relevant licensing controls and 

to actively manage their implementation.  

• Devise and carry out such briefings as may be required to ensure staff 

carry out principal public safety duties (as set out below). 

• Ensure all personnel maintain a competent and professional image to 

all visitors.  

• Monitor public safety and provide feedback to the Operations 

Director relating to activities on the site. 

• To assist in carrying out agreed emergency procedures and in the 

investigation of incidents. 

• Make resources (including personnel) available to assist the Police or 

other statutory body in the carrying out of their duties.  

 

  

Page 66



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  35 

6.11 Traffic Manager – Tbc 

• Assist BD Events Ltd with the development of the Traffic Management 

Plan to ensure the safe ingress, unloading and egress of vehicle traffic 

to and from the resort site. 

• production of the temporary road signage plan for Highways to ensure 

timely sign off of the placement and type of directional road signage 

being installed for the resort duration.  

• Assist in ensuring traffic management plan minimises the impact on 

pedestrians and ensuring no vehicle / pedestrian conflict in key areas. 

• Liaise with Police Planning, Highways Department and other 

stakeholders regarding traffic management with a view to minimising 

congestion and disruption to local traffic. 

• Deploy such personnel and resources as are necessary to safely 

manage vehicle movements onto the site from the public highway and 

internally around the resort site.  

• Ensure vehicles arriving at site are parked and marshalled according 

to the agreed traffic management plans. 

• Assist in the maintenance of keeping emergency routes clear on and 

around the resort site and its perimeter. 

• Provide personnel a communication system to manage the traffic 

control operation. 

• Advance liaison with traffic management contractors to ensure 

deployment of appropriate signage, no waiting cones, traffic lights 

etc. 

  

Page 67



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  36 

6.12 Resort Medical Provider – Tbc 

• Carry out a Medical Risk Assessment for the resorts to identify a level 

of medical provision (including equipment and personnel), to provide 

an adequate service to meet all reasonably foreseeable needs. 

• To provide a resort specific medical risk assessment in advance.  

• Undertake provision of a competent medical service in accordance 

with the medical risk assessment. 

• Liaise with local ambulance service to ensure co-ordination of on-site 

and statutory medical provision (including patient transfers, routes to 

receiving hospitals etc.) 

• Ensure relevant personnel are familiar with the location of the nearest 

hospital with an A&E department.  

• Manage the operational activities of resort medical staff throughout 

the resort periods. 

• Ensure a suitable system is maintained for collation, handling and 

storage of medical incident records and patient contact information 

(to help identify causes of incidents and accidents to carry out 

remedial work and prevent recurrence, contact information e.g. 

mobile number) should be available to the C9 management team / 

Senior Safety Officer as maybe required and not withheld on grounds 

of patient confidentiality. 

• Managing the data collection, handling and storage of medical 

incident records and patient contact information according to the 

GDPR 2018.  

• Forward all details for reporting to the licensee as required under 

RIDDOR 1995 as amended 2012. 

• RIDDOR reportable incidents will be those directly relating to a work 

activity. This does not include incidents affecting members of the 

Page 68



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  37 

public during the normal progress the event not related to a work 

activity. 

• Act under the direction of the Police or ambulance service in the event 

of a Major Incident or as requested by the Licensee. 

6.13 Brand and Marketing Director – Suze Bayliss 

• Oversee media accreditation and management.  

• Oversee crisis comms process and procedures.  

• To enact and lead a coordinated marketing approach to the 

enactment of the PR crisis plan.  

• Liaise with applicable government bodies as required to share 

learnings and publicist key safety messaging. 

• Oversee and implement traffic / travel messaging to the public  

• Responsible for all crisis comms and media statements  

• Oversee customer comms and social media messaging / enquiries.  

•  

  

Page 69



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  38 
 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 D

ire
ct

or
 - 

BD
 E

ve
nt

s 
Sa

m
 W

ar
tk

in
s

H&
S 

Ad
vi

so
r

Jim
 D

av
ey

 - 
Re

dw
oo

d 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 M

an
ag

er
s 

 - 
BD

 E
ve

nt
s 

   
   M
ed

ic
al

 
Te

am

Cl
ou

d 
9 

- B
at

hu
rs

t  
20

21
 - 

O
rg

an
og

ra
m

 - 
V2

W
es

t O
xf

or
d 

Di
st

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

Bl
ue

 lig
ht

s 
an

d 
en

fo
rc

in
g 

au
th

or
itie

s

Se
cu

rit
y 

Su
pe

rv
is

or
s

Si
te

 C
re

w
Tr

af
fic

 
M

ar
sh

al
ls

Re
so

rt 
St

af
f 

Cr
ew

 C
hi

ef
Re

so
rt 

M
an

ag
er

s
Tr

af
fic

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
Se

cu
rit

y 
M

an
ag

er
Pr

in
cip

le
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
M

ed
ic

al
 M

an
ag

er

Co
nt

ra
ct

or
 

St
af

f

Co
nt

ra
ct

or
s

Si
te

 M
an

ag
er

   
   

  

Ev
en

t D
ire

ct
or

 - 
BD

 E
ve

nt
s 

Be
n 

Ch
ild

s

Page 70



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  39 

 

Resort Control Team 

7.1 A designated Resort Control Team (RCT) will be established within the site to 

facilitate effective delivery of the safety and crowd management plans. 

7.2 The RCT will be a dynamic operation formed from the following key roles: 

• Site Manager 

• Security Manager  

• Medical Manager 

7.3 The following C9 managers will be consulted and engaged with for any significant 

incident.  

• Operations Director 

• Operations Manager  

7.4 The core RCT will be roaming by nature but will meet at regular / allotted intervals 

throughout the day.  

7.5 The RCT meeting point / facility will be the production office, in the event that this 

location is unavailable a secondary point will be established, and the new location 

conveyed to the management team.  

7.6 Should any significant incident arise then the core RCT will convene with 

immediate effect. The team will best direct response and resource from the 

designated facility.  

7.7 The RCT shall be staffed and operational for the entire duration of the live / open 

period. 

7.8 There will be a further managed security and stewarding element with 24-hour 

coverage.  

Page 71



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  40 

7.9 The primary function of the RCT will be the effective co-ordination of site 

operations and the facilitation of communication between the Organisers (BD 

Events Ltd), Emergency Services and other Stakeholders. 

7.10 RCT will handle monitoring of site activity and management of on-site incidents. A 

comprehensive log shall be maintained of all significant issues and subsequent 

remedial works, medical calls, security issues etc. for the duration of the public 

event phase.  

7.11 RCT will act as the principal Emergency Liaison Team location and may include 

representatives from a range of agencies. Under the gold, silver bronze 

management model, the Resort Controller is the nominated Resort Silver and the 

ELT (Emergency Liaison Team) is when other, relevant Silver controllers from other 

agencies can meet to plan the response to incidents.  

7.12 The RCT facility may be made available as a forward control point in the event of 

a Major Incident. In the event that an ELT has been established with external 

agencies, an RVP (likely to be off site) will be agreed and communicated to all 

relevant parties.  

7.13 If for any reason the safety of the RCT location is compromised, an alternative 

location will be identified. 

7.14 Should the C9 Bathurst resort find itself in a major incident / emergency 

operation(s) then the RCT, and key personnel within it, will divide into an 

operational Bronze and Emergency Silver faction. The rationale being that key 

personnel with the autonomy to make informed / competent decisions should 

move up to the silver command role, whilst other key / pre-nominated staff would 

be asked to step up to the Bronze Command structure and to ensure the continued 

safe running of the resort, SFARP. 

7.15 The task presented to the Silver Control function would be the emergency to hand 

and not the general running of the C9 glamping site. By separating out these roles 

Page 72



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  41 

and responsibilities it is hoped that the Silver function can concentrate solely on 

the task at hand 

7.16 This should be supported by clear and pre-agreed channels of reporting into any 

one of the silver team. Channels of communication, and an individual’s ability to 

effectively manage, are diluted if they have more than 2 or 3 people reporting into 

them. In order to achieve this clearly those persons need to be identified and their 

roles outlined.  

7.17 A good working example of this might be the Operations Director from BD Events 

Ltd and the draws / requirements on their time and efforts in an emergency. It is 

foreseeable that without this model and in an emergency situation, this role may 

become completely saturated by calls and demands on their time, therefore 

limiting their ability to address the most pressing / significant issues at hand. 

7.18 By agreeing in advance that this person would move up to the silver role and 

augmenting this by only having a few people report into them, this can create a 

buffer / controlled filter between the roles.  

7.19 The following model shows the RCT system under normal operation and then 

progressing to the Silver faction with Bronze operational support.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  42 

 

Ev
en

t C
on

tro
l T

ea
m

 - 
Br

on
ze

 S
ilv

er
 M

od
el

Si
lv

er
 E

ve
nt

 
Co

nt
ro

l 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 

Di
re

ct
or

Si
te

 / 
Sa

fe
ty

 
M

an
ag

er

Se
cu

rit
y 

M
an

ag
er

M
ed

ic
al

 M
an

ag
er

Tr
af

fic
 M

an
ag

er

Se
cu

rit
y 

M
an

ag
er

M
ed

ic
al

 M
an

ag
er

Tr
af

fic
 M

an
ag

er

Ev
en

t C
on

tro
l 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 

Di
re

ct
or

Si
te

 M
an

ag
er

Se
cu

rit
y 

Co
nt

ro
lle

r

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 

M
an

ag
er

s

No
m

in
at

ed
 D

ep
ut

ie
s

De
pu

ty
 S

ite
 

M
an

ag
er

If 
Re

qu
es

te
d

Br
on

ze
 - 

No
rm

al
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

Fo
cu

s 
on

 O
ve

ra
l r

un
ni

ng
 o

f 
Ev

en
t

Co
m

m
an

d 
Te

am
 - 

Si
lv

er
Fo

cu
s 

on
 In

ci
de

nt
 a

t H
an

d

Sc
rib

e

Lo
ca

l A
ut

ho
rit

y

If 
Re

qu
ire

d

Up
da

te
 m

ee
tin

g 
ev

er
y 

10
 m

in
 - 

Ta
rg

et
ed

 to
 2

 m
in

 m
ax

 in
 le

ng
th

Page 74



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  43 

Calling and liaising with Emergency Services 

8.1 This section aims to clearly outline who will be contacting 999 and what model 

they will use to relay clear, concise and factual information.  

8.2 All 999 calls on behalf of C9 will be made by the RCT. The only exception to this 

may be calls made by the public when presented with clear and visible danger 

incidents and or accidents.  

8.3 The model deployed by RCT to relay the information would validate C9 resort 

control status. The model proposed is taken directly from the emergency services 

joint working JESIP model. The METHANE model will be used for information 

transfer when calling 999.  

8.4 Any calls to the emergency services should be clear concise, formulaic nature and 

descriptive of pertinent facts.  

 
8.5 As such the following model should be printed off, available and or prominently 

displayed near to the phone lines within the C9 production offices and security 

controls.  

Page 75



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  44 

 
 

8.6 RCT cannot declare a major incident. That power resides with the blue light 

services and recognised first responder agencies. As such C9 shall make all 

reasonable efforts to deliver the ETHANE sections of the model. 

Page 76



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  45 

Emergency Services and the Local Authority 

9.1 It is the express goal of the C9 Resort Organisers (BD Events Ltd) to not rely on the 

emergency services including the local Police, Fire and Rescue and Ambulance 

services to input and or to be relied upon during the normal running.  

9.2 All emergency services are invited to attend across the event should they wish to.  

9.3 BD Events Ltd will ensure all reasonable efforts to procure specialist contractors 

to meet these obligations. Many of these contractors are return contractors with 

very good and developed relationships with BD Events. They form part of a close 

knit and competent team.  

9.4 The key site contractors are given as: 

• Security – Principal Protection Limited  

• Medical – Tbc 

• Traffic Management – Tbc 

9.5 The emergency services shall retain their normal statutory duties; and in the event 

of a Major Incident may take operational control of the licensed site.  

9.6 Grab bags will be positioned at a suitable location close to the main entrance or 

back of house production area. The contents of which are detailed below and are 

open to feedback / input from blue lights. 

9.7 The pack(s) will include but not be limited to: 

• Site Map 

• Gas store / location map 

• Contact List  

• Schedule of resorts / content 

Page 77



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  46 

9.8  Emergency Service representatives will be consulted throughout the planning 

process via a formally constituted Safety Advisory Group (SAG).   

9.9 The local police force will be consulted throughout the planning process.  

9.10 The 2020 Dorset glamping experience has no history of reported and or recorded 

crimes directly relating to the public event phase.  

9.11 Local Authority representatives will be consulted during planning, but no reliance 

on their officers, services or facilities will be assumed for the delivery of the resort.  

9.12 The SAG group members will be invited for a site walk just before the live period 

of the resort and at a stage that is far enough advanced for the majority of 

infrastructures and content to be in place.  

  

Page 78



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  47 

Event Safety Planning and Management 

10.1 Safety planning for the resort will be split into three distinct phases: 

• Pre-production 

• Build/Break 

• Public Open phases. 

10.2 Each phase requires its’ own distinct safety management arrangements.  This 

section gives an overview of those arrangements and the safety procedures for 

the resort.   

10.3 The Resort Organisers recognise and accept their responsibility to protect the 

health, safety and welfare of its employees, contractors, staff, and members of the 

public attending C9. They will also make all reasonable efforts to ensure that no 

other persons are affected unduly by the events acts or omissions.  

10.4 The health and safety of employees, contractors and members of the public is of 

paramount importance and it is the policy of the Resort Organisers to engender a 

positive approach to health and safety during planning and operational phases. 

Pre-Production Phase 

10.5 Essential planning will be carried out during the pre-production phase i.e. before 

operations commence on site, including: 

• Appointment of competent Health and Safety Advisor to advise across the 

planning and design stages of the resort.  

• Attendance at SAG meetings as required presenting arrangements for the 

resort.  

• Review of plans and documentation provided by appointed third-party 

contractors.  

Page 79



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  48 

• Development of overall C9 event risk assessments. 

• Development of contingency and emergency plans. 

• Site design, including consideration of access, egress and emergency 

routes. 

• To consider the above against existing stakeholder activities / operations 

and to plan accordingly. 

• Appointment of reputable and competent contractors. 

• Meetings held between all interested parties, consultation with the local 

authority, licensing departments, emergency services etc. 

• Drawing up ESMP and Safety Dossier.  

10.6 BD Events Ltd shall draw up and circulate subsequent versions of the ESMP and 

compile a dossier of health and safety information from contractors, including but 

not limited to: 

• Company health and safety policies / statements.  

• Risk Assessments relating to the activities to be carried out on site. 

• Method Statements. 

• Copies of current liability insurance certification.  

• Engineering, Technical and structural calculations where appropriate and 

specifically relating to TDS. 

10.7 The dossier will be collated and held by BD Events Ltd and will serve as a record of 

safety management for each contractor and service supplier.  

10.8 This will be available for inspection by local authority representatives and Safety / 

Environmental Health staff during the event and upon request. 

Page 80



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  49 

10.9 Overall resort Risk Assessments will be carried out for significant activities directly 

relating to the management of the overall resort. 

10.10 Any significant site-specific risks such as open water, dual occupancy etc, will be 

assessed on a site by site basis and for each resort. 

10.11 Third party suppliers and contractors are required to forward their own specific 

risk assessments directly pertaining to the activities they shall be carrying out at 

the event.   

10.12 During the pre-planning phase, detailed site drawings, logistics and entertainment 

schedules and a range of other documentation will be assembled. Where 

applicable such documents will be included as appendices to the ESMP. 

Build & Break Phase 

10.13 The first phases of construction begin with advanced communications to all 

contractors communicating the following detail: 

• Key dates and timings – Build, live and show 

• Sie Address and location and advised production routes to site 

• Minimum standards of service and diligence expected 

• Site Rules 

• Site Works – Key Restrictions and Requirements  

• Compliance required under relevant legislation 

• Fire Safety  

• Traffic Management  

10.14 The provisions and requirements above take the form of an acceptance signed SLA 

between the contractor and the Resort Organisers.  

Page 81



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  50 

10.15 This may be further augmented with contractors’ meetings onsite to effectively 

communicate plans, arrangements, locations and to impart a feel for the site.  

10.16 The contractors will receive a contractor’s pack detailing arrangements agreed to 

within the SLA and also providing further detail on site plans, key personnel on 

site, communications, emergency arrangements and so on.  

10.17 Once on site, the first priority in the construction phase will be to establish safe 

working areas and ensure that members of the public and other site or area users 

are protected from site operations (including the movement of plant and 

materials). Access to the resort site itself shall only be permitted to authorised 

personnel. 

10.18 Before being allowed to start work on site all staff (resort Staff and Contractors) 

shall undergo and sign to say they have received, a safety induction. This induction 

will be specific to the resort site and location.  

10.19 BD Events Ltd shall ensure that relevant safety specific aspects are covered within 

the C9 Induction in advance of starting any works onsite. 

10.20 This will be detailed within contractor & trader SLA’s and welcome packs. The site 

rules form part of their contract with BD Events Ltd as organisers of the C9 resorts.  

10.21 During the build and break phases, the Site and Operations Management will 

ensure that all staff and contractors receive advance briefing on safety procedures 

to be adopted and regarding the specific hazards which may be encountered on 

site (such as open water, buried / overhead services, other park users, local 

landowners etc.). 

10.22 Due consideration shall be given to the sympathetic location of tower lights and 

other potential light sources alongside premises outside of the resort site. Efforts 

shall be made throughout the Build and Break periods to minimise the impact of 

the event on any immediate neighbours.  

Page 82



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  51 

10.23 An accurate and relevant lighting plan is only achievable after the site is built, 

lighting located, and a lighting level assessment is carried out after the hours of 

darkness. This should be carried out when the site build is advanced and with 

enough time for remedial actions / works to be completed.  

10.24 Welfare, sanitary and first aid facilities will be provided for the use of resort 

contractors and staff.  

10.25 A clear method of communication and means of raising the alarm in the event of 

an incident shall be established and communicated to all key personnel prior to 

commencing work on site. This may well be via 2-way radio communications.  

10.26 On completion of technical installations and temporary structures (power, stage 

structures, temporary marquee structures, PA towers, etc.) a competent person 

from the relevant contractor will be required to produce a Completion / Sign off 

Certificate. 

10.27 Such certification shall meet general requirements as set out in EAW Regs IEE 17th 

Edition and BS7909; and the Institution of Structural Engineers’ publication 

Temporary Demountable Structures 2017 [Fourth edition] (TDS). 

10.28 Information shall be obtained regarding the performance characteristics and load 

limits of all temporary structures (including wind loadings). This shall be 

considered when compiling the wind management plan. The Wind Management 

Plan will be available as a separate document from the Safety Pack. 

10.29 Whilst in attendance on site, the Safety Advisor(s) may also carry out a visual 

inspection of TDS and complete a sign of certificate as demonstrable evidence of 

such inspection if not already carried out by the Site Manager.  

10.30 Copies of all such sign offs shall be held within the resort safety file and available 

for inspection in the Production Office for the duration of the event and upon 

request.   

Page 83



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  52 

The Event Phase 

10.31 Prior to opening of any part of the site to public access there will be a formal 

process of inspection and review to ensure that all relevant facilities and 

infrastructure are in place (including sanitation, lighting, fencing, way finding 

signage and so on).   

10.32 Prior to opening for the public, the following final checks will be carried out: 

• Briefings for all key resort staff to be carried out by C9 Management and 

relevant Heads of Department.  

• Ensure all staff are in designated positions.  

• Briefings for security and steward personnel and deployment to positions. 

• Security briefings to include base level terrorism awareness and resort 

incident response channels i.e. how to contact RCT and the appropriate 

protocol.  

• Verify RCT operational and tests of communications systems. 

• Confirm gates are ready to admit guests. 

• Confirm medical deployment in place.  

• Confirm all toilets are serviced and ready. 

• Confirm no problems with power supply. 

• Confirm Security and Steward deployment. 

• Confirm all infrastructures complete, safe and operational. 

• Confirm that all campsites are ready 

• Confirm all content / features are ready  

Page 84



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  53 

• Traders are ready to trade. 

• Final site survey to ensure the site is clear of hazards (e.g. service vehicles). 

10.33 Once the site is deemed safe to open, RCT shall issue instructions for the opening 

of site and (as appropriate) commencement of entertainment content.  

10.34 Once open to the public, an all-channels radio message will be broadcast to let all 

radio users know that the resort is now open to the public. 

10.35 Throughout the public opening period the key Resort Management Staff will 

remain on site and will be present either through RCT or contactable by radio or 

mobile phone within the main resort areas and at all times.    

10.36 Communications will be by mobile radio handsets or mobile phones in the event 

of radio failure.   

 The Breakdown Phase 

10.37 A detailed breakdown schedule will be produced for the resorts which clearly 

outlines when infrastructure / services etc. will be removed from the site. 

Appropriate time will be scheduled to allow contractors to safely carry out their 

breakdown / removal activities.  

10.38 Breakdown activities will not be undertaken which may present a risk to the public 

unless and until the site is clear.  Essential services such as lighting, water and 

sanitation will remain functional until the public have departed. 

10.39 During the breakdown period, appropriate sanitation and welfare facilities will be 

made available to staff and contractors. 

  

Page 85



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  54 

Temporary Structures and Site Infrastructure 

Temporary Demountable Structures 

11.1 The resort will utilise various temporary demountable structures (TDS) throughout 

the site. This section serves to outline the safety management systems in place to 

ensure that suitable structures and indeed contractures are sourced and that they 

are managed onto site and up to the point of sign off.  

11.2 For detailed structural drawings, calculations and RAM’s the individual’s 

contractor’s arrangement should be consulted and will be available on request and 

directly from BD Events Ltd. 

11.3 Structural calculations will be held by BD Events Ltd and available as and when 

suppliers are contracted, and documents made available.  

11.4 This section provides an overview of how the structures are managed onsite and 

overall resort safety management systems in place such as the severe weather 

management plan.  

11.5 The selection, installation and use of all temporary structures will be in accordance 

with the Institution of Structural Engineers’ document Temporary Demountable 

Structures 2017 Fourth Edition. 

11.6 The following structures are a currently planned for 2020, this may be added to 

and or amended as plans progress with the same overall arrangements and 

controls remaining in place. Structures include: 

• Stretch Tents   

• Big top – traditional wooden king and side pole structure  

• Clearspan marquees  

Page 86



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  55 

11.7 Other types of temporary structures which are likely to be installed and deployed 

around site may include: 

• Steel Deck  

• Heras Fencing  

11.8 Where appropriate, structural calculations, wind performance characteristics, 

ground loadings and other technical detail will be collated by BD Events Ltd in 

advance and held on file. These will be made available to relevant SAG members 

and upon request. 

11.9 TDS will be subject to inspection and sign-off by a competent representative of the 

structural supplier / contractor. This sign-off will confirm that the structure has 

been erected in accordance with the Manufacturer’s instructions and that it is safe 

for its intended use. 

11.10 TDS structures shall be signed off to the site manager and may be inspected by the 

Safety Advisor on the site visit ahead of opening to guests.  

11.11 A severe weather / wind management plan will be developed to ensure that wind-

susceptible structures do not present a risk to the public or others. The plan will 

include proportionate responses to rising wind speed – ultimately resulting in 

closure of a structure or, in extreme circumstances, cancellation of the resort. This 

is available from the safety portal and upon request.  

11.12 The wind severe weather management plan has been broken down into the 

distinct action levels. These action levels mirror the guidance offered in TDS 2017 

4th edition. 

11.13 The actions levels are summarised down into single sheets, given a red amber or 

green status, printed off and placed within the Production Office and Site Crew 

offices. The idea being that they offer an immediate a visual reference to both wind 

Page 87



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  56 

speeds and required action level works. The summary sheets are offered below. 

This has proven to be a very effective way of disseminating the information. 

 

Page 88



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  57 

 

 

Page 89



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  58 

11.14 The summary sheets are accompanied by a list of typical structures onsite and their 

max operational wind speeds. An example of the wind loading structure sheet is 

given below. 

 

	

	

Wind Loadings by Structure type  
 
The following loadings are given as guidance and are 
typical of the types of structure on the C9 site. They are 
listed in ascending order as regards max operational 
capacity. These are constant wind loads.  
 

• Gazebos, party tents, scrim, signage – 20 mph 

• Bell Tents – 40 mph 

• Stretch Tents – 40 mph  

• Saddlespan – 40 mph  

• Big Top Structures – 44 mph 

• Clearspan Marquees – 50 mph 

• Traditional Marquees - 60 mph 

Page 90



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  59 

Temporary Power Installation 

11.15 A competent contractor Tbc will provide temporary electrical supply and 

distribution. Power will be supplied by means of super-silent diesel generators 

located in a secure compound(s) / back of house areas around the site. 

11.16 Careful consideration should be given to matching the power rating (Kva) of the 

gensets to the profile / draw required. There are greater efficiencies to be achieved 

by matching a correct sized set and running it efficiently over and above a large 

genset without much draw on it. A full spec of power requirements and the fuel 

consumption thereof should be drawn up in order to scrutinise usage and work 

towards more sustainable resorts.  

11.17 The location of power compound(s) and the proposal for inclusion within the 

Security Schedule will be communicated.   

11.18 All cabling and distribution will be installed in accordance with BS7909 Code of 

practice for temporary electrical systems for entertainment and related purposes. 

11.19 A suitable completion certificate will be provided by the contractor to warrant that 

safe and appropriate equipment has been used in compliance with the Electricity 

at Work Regulations 1989 and / or BS7909, and that all relevant safety devices, 

circuit breakers and earth bonds have been installed.   

11.20 A minimum of one competent site electrical team / engineer will remain onsite 

throughout the public opening period to respond to any electrical related incident 

as maybe required.  

11.21 The power contractor shall ensure that sufficient fuel is available for all generators 

and they are re-fuelled as required to maintain continuity of supply. 

  

Page 91



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  60 

Traffic Management 

12.1 Due to the nature of the resort and with arrivals on allocated days and time slots, 

it is not necessary to have a full traffic management team on site for each day. 

12.2 BD Events have engaged JPS to provide directional signage to ensure production 

deliveries and guests arrive to the site via the correct routes and do not cause any 

local disturbance.  

12.3 There will also be a dedicated parking team who will manage the carpark on arrival 

and departure days to ensure cars are parked safely and do not block any gates or 

emergency routes. 

12.4 The Traffic Management Plan (TMP) will be made available as a separate document 

and will therefore not be dealt with in exhaustive detail within this paper. 

12.5 The aim of the TMP is as follows:  

• Public safety and maintaining the free flow of traffic on the public highway.  

• Minimising disruption to al road users. 

• Minimising the disruption of the resort on the local community.  

• Facilitating the access to and from the campsite for attendees and 

minimising wait times to carparks for all guests.  

• Managing the vehicle movements around the campsite permitted and de-

conflicting as far as possible vehicles and pedestrians.  

12.6 Traffic Management in this instance can be broken down into 3 key areas, namely: 

1. Production Traffic 

2. Public Vehicle Access  

3. Emergency Vehicle Access 

Page 92



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  61 

12.7 For clarity, these three areas will be addressed individually. 

Production Traffic 

12.8 To build, run and dismantle the C9 resorts a variety of production vehicles will be 

required. Vehicles will range in size from small buggies to HGV’s. Clearly there is 

requirement to coordinate their arrival and departure to and from site alongside 

other park users and stakeholders. 

12.9 BD Events recognises the requirement to manage vehicles onto and off site and 

through access routes across the various estate and adjacent locations.   

12.10 The following plan has been agreed with the estate: 

 

12.11 The key is given as: 

 

SEB

SEB
MEB

MEB

Parking

194.26 ac

Page 93



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  62 

•  Purple route indicates the Estate’s clockwise one-way system.  

• Blue indicates Cloud Nine Glamping Site’s exit route.  

• The red in the C9 site boundary.  

12.12 The Site Manager will oversee all vehicles movements and operations. Their tasks 

will include: 

•  The identification of suitable access routes  

•  Communication of routes / restrictions / curfews etc. to contractors, crew, 

and exhibitors    

•  Deployment and briefing of Traffic Marshals for the direction and safe 

conduct of  vehicles   

•  Identification of appropriate parking arrangements for crew and exhibitors  

12.13 Note that no general traffic will be permitted to enter the resort site during the 

open / live period. The only exception to this rule would be Essential Vehicles, 

namely ambulances, site cleansing vehicles, toilet cleansing vehicles having to 

operate outside of normal operations (i.e. flooding toilet or overflowing bins 

creating significant fire risk or ambulance onto the show site). 

12.14 The requirement to minimise vehicle people mix has been factored into the site 

design stage. All reasonable efforts will be made to ensure that services vehicles 

may access key areas via back of house routes, therefore mitigating pedestrian 

mix. 

12.15 Vehicles hazard lights should NOT be used as it prevents the vehicles (and our staff) 

from determining which way they are turning. This will be communicated at the 

safety induction and site rule stages.  

Page 94



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  63 

12.16 Production vehicles access will be scheduled and communicated out to all 

contractors.  

12.17 There is a large production car park to the south east of the site, accessible vie 

internal Bathurst Estate roads and with capacity for 350 cars.  

Public Vehicle Access 

12.18 Public parking is separated from the campsite areas and guests are required to 

park their cars ahead of making their way to their allocated pitches.  

12.19 The Bathurst site has room for some 300 cars based on 350 cars per hectare. 

12.20 This is located to the south east corner of the resort site and accessible from the 

Bathurst Estates internal road network. 

12.21 This is shown to the model below.  

 

  

Page 95



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  64 

Emergency Vehicle Access 

12.22 The Bathurst resort site has suitable access points for emergency vehicles. These 

should be communicated out and checked / confirmed with all relevant agencies.  

12.23 This will be covered in detail within the C9 Bathurst FRA and Emergency Evac plans, 

but the red routes are proposed as follows: 

 

12.24 Access routes onto the resort sites and around key areas will be sufficiently wide 

to accommodate a tender vehicle for the fire service and other designated 

emergency vehicles. The site will be laid out SFARP to provide access to the 

immediate vicinity and or locale of major installations and operations.  

12.25 Red Routes will be kept clear and staff briefed to protect and or make good routes 

in an emergency.  

C9 – Red Routes to Site – Bathurst Estate – V2 
 

Red Routes: 

• RR1 – Via Cecily Hill, 

approaching from the 

south East 

• RR2 – Via Overley Rd, 

approaching from the 

North 

• RR3 –Towards A419, 

could be used as one 

way for vehicles moving 

away from site 

• RVP to south east of 

site, near to production 

car park 

Note:  

Important to confirm 
the RR with fire 
brigade and wherever 
possible. RR’s should 
be protected. 

 

RR1 

RR2 

RVP1 

Page 96



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  65 

12.26 Should blue light services be called to site, a competent member of the resort 

management team will be dispatched to the perimeter gate to meet and guide 

them in. 

General Traffic Management  

12.27 The TMP will be produced to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that 

hazards to other road users, disruption to local traffic and nuisance to local 

residents are minimised.  

12.28 The TMP will identify the best access and egress routes, signage, parking 

suspensions, partial closures or other action required to facilitate public 

attendance at the resorts and to minimise local disruption to residents, businesses, 

and other users. 

12.29 Due consideration should be given to the fact that the organisers have no influence 

over external traffic conditions and or the motorway gods. This means that some 

vehicles may arrive outside of their forecast times, but for the avoidance of any 

doubt the organisers shall make all reasonable efforts to mitigate this.  

12.30 Access to the site will only be allowed to essential production/exhibitor traffic 

during the build and break phases. These vehicles will be identifiable by accredited 

vehicle passes. Affixed to and displayed within the Windscreen of each vehicle. The 

passes should carry the vehicle registration and the relevant contact number 

(mobile) for the designated driver. 

12.31 An on-site vehicle curfew will be set and after this time no vehicle movement in 

public areas will be permitted unless they have authorisation from the Resort 

Control team. 

12.32 Any essential vehicle movement (such as litter collection, emergency vehicle etc.) 

through the public areas during the resorts will be appropriately stewarded and 

vehicles permitted to move at “walking” speed only.  

Page 97



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  66 

Fire Safety  

14.1 An overall site wide fire safety assessment will be produced and include: 

• Identification of fire hazards. 

• Identification of persons at risk. 

• Identification of fuels and potential ignition sources. 

• Controls: 

o Designated Person with responsibility for managing fire safety  

o Detection and alarm arrangements. 

o Evacuation routes. 

o Firefighting equipment. 

o Signs, and illumination. 

o Liaison with local fire and rescue service 

14.2 RES on behalf of the Event Organisers shall conduct specific fire risk assessments 

for larger “managed” public entertainment structures, namely the Viewpoint 

Restaurant, Public Bars (operated by BD Events) and seating / rain cover areas 

greenroom. These will be treated as enclosed venues unless at least 50% of the 

sidewalls are removed. 

14.3 Note that Event Organisers and or RES shall take not responsibility for the Fire and 

or H&S arrangements of independent contractors (i.e. Exhibitors and Caterers) and 

or the training of their employees. Such employers shall be wholly responsible for 

discharging their duties under the Regulatory Reform (Fire safety) Order 2005, the 

Health and Safety at Work act 1974 and related legislation.   

Page 98



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  67 

14.4 In accordance with best practice the site manager may carry out sample checks of 

commercial set-ups and advise relevant duty holders accordingly. The 

management of all such operations and the obligation for legislative compliance 

shall remain with the employer. 

14.5 BD Events Ltd conditions of trading will stipulate that failure to make adequate 

provision may mean that they will not be allowed to open or trade. 

14.6 Traders and any organisation or individual providing entertainment venues will be 

expected to provide specific fire safety assessments and appropriate fire safety 

provision for these venues. BD Events shall collate and make available such 

arrangements. 

14.7 Any trader / caterer using LPG appliances will be required to declare these in 

advance to BD Events Ltd and provide a current (i.e. within the last year) gas safety 

certificate as evidence of proper maintenance and inspection. 

14.8  BD Events Ltd shall make a request for suitable and sufficient training records 

alongside identification of competent persons to carry out safety critical 

operations (such as changing LPG cylinders). These arrangements will be 

scrutinised by BD Events Ltd during the planning phase of the resorts. 

14.9 The requirement to meet all current UK legislative standards and guidance (in 

accordance with guidelines from Gas Safe and NCASS) will be communicated by BD 

Events Ltd and in advance to all caterers and traders. 

14.10 The stipulation that if these standards are not met to the satisfaction of the 

inspecting Site Manager and or visiting safety advisor, then operation will cease 

trading will also be made at this conjuncture. 

14.11 All LPG cylinders will be stored outside and secured upright so that they cannot 

fall, in secure areas or fenced compounds with no access to members of the public. 

These areas will form part of the roving security patrol checks.   

Page 99



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  68 

14.12 Any open flame cooking by concessions will be required to prevent risk to the 

public by ensuring hot surfaces/flame etc. are physically distant from the public 

and properly enclosed to prevent contact. 

14.13 Portable fire-fighting equipment will be deployed at all relevant locations 

throughout the resort sites where technical equipment is deployed.  There will also 

be prominently positioned public fire points in the main resort areas.  

14.14 Resort staff are reminded that firefighting equipment is provided to assist in 

getting out of a venue / structure and not primarily as a fire fighting tool. The 

extinguishers are designed to aid escape. 

14.15 Firefighting equipment (FSE) will be provided by JPS. A select number of the 

management team and zone managers will also receive formal fire safety training 

on site which will be delivered by a specialist contractor. This will enable the team 

to react to small fires and spot any unsafe practices across site.  

14.16 There will also be a 4x4 quad / buggy with a mounted water tank and hose to 

enable fast deployment to any small fires on site.  

14.17 All accommodation clusters and fire pits will be serviced with Water extinguishers 

clearly signed and within the immediate locale.  

14.18 All generators and electrical equipment on site will be serviced with CO2 

extinguishers.  

14.19 All gas BBQ areas on site will be serviced with Powder extinguishers.  

14.20 All office spaces on site will be serviced with Water extinguishers.  

  

Page 100



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  69 

Fire Pit Control measures 
This briefing is to be given to all Cloud 9 (C9) staff working on the in the campsite areas 

and around fire pits. The briefing needs to be given ahead of starting any fires and 

disseminated to all relevant staff.  

• Fire pits will always be monitored by a responsible member of C9 staff. These 

staff need to have a clear line of site to the fire at all times 

• Appropriate fire extinguishers and water bins/ buckets will be positioned 

nearby to each fire pit 

• The responsible member of staff will ensure the fire is fully extinguished 

when no longer in use / feature finished 

• Fuel supply (wooden logs) will be managed by C9 staff only, and the fuel 

store will be kept controlled / back of house areas to avoid fires being built 

too high 

• No unattended children to be allowed near to the fire 

• Fire pit will have a 2m external line radiating out from the fire pit location. 

This is a sterile / no go area for the public and will be supported with signs 

telling members of public not to cross 

• Fires will not be lit in high winds 

• Clear immediate area of leaves, kindling and branches 

• Fire pits will be at least 5 metres away from any structures or tents  

• Fire pits to be raised off the ground on patio slabs 

• No petrol, lighter fluid or similar to be used 

• Once fire pits finished with , they will be fenced off to prevent anyone from 

touching them. i.e. place some barrier around the pits 

• If fire begins to spread, contact event control immediately  

Event Control – Radio Channel 1 or XXXXXX 

Site Manager – Tbc xxxxxxxx 

Fire Safety and Camping 

14.21 C9 glamping site will utilise fire pits at the accommodation and distributed around 

the site. The fire risks presented by the cooking and social fire pits area clear and 

need to be addressed. It is also important to address the risks around carbon 

monoxide poisoning from BBQ’s and fire pits brought into tents / enclosed spaces. 

14.22 C9 reception team, and feature / activity managers will be assigned to each area 

and tasked specifically with taking responsibility of the fire pits. Fire safety briefing 

for the team have been written and circulated, these are given below.  

 

  

Page 101



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  70 

14.23 Carbon monoxide is perhaps one of the biggest risks on campsites. Give that C9 

tents come with fire pits and they are also used across the site, it is important to 

outline the fire safety controls in place specifically around these issues.  

14.24 CO campsite safety posters should be included across relevant social media 

platforms, i.e. alongside the glamping site rule and within guests joining packs. 

Posters should also be displayed within the glamping site reception area and 

management / information hubs. These simple controls should be made 

abundantly clear to all guests and without fail.  

14.25 The following poser should be used.  

 

Page 102



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  71 

Security  

15.1 BD Events Ltd have engaged Principal Protection as our security contractor to 

manage the internal security for the Cloud Nine Glamping site. This company shall 

use competent stewards and SIA qualified personnel where appropriate to 

maintain public safety, order, asset protection, crowd management and customer 

assistance.  

15.2 All security staff will be identifiable by a black uniform with a company security 

logo with their SIA licence clearly visible on their person. Staff during the day won’t 

be required to wear high vis, however staff working in the hours of dusk or 

darkness will be required to wear a high vis.  

15.3 The main duties of the security personnel are:  

• Protect public safety 

• Provide information and assistance to the public 

• Where possible prevent crime and disorder  

• Regulate access to the venue  

• Be an easily identifiable point of contact to the public  

• Provide feedback to management regarding activity on site  

• Enforce entry conditions and remove prohibited items from the public  

• Report any incidents or crime  

• Assist with traffic management where appropriate 

• Monitor the lake in hours of darkness. 

• Fire safety trained staff to assist with any small fires on site. 

Page 103



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  72 

15.4 Full security schedules are available upon request and from BD Events Ltd. Note 

that the Resort Organisers reserve the right to update and the security schedule. 

15.5 Should any persons be ejected from the resort for unacceptable behaviour or 

carrying of contraband items, the local police will be informed to ensure that there 

is a co-ordinated approach in eviction.  A log of any persons being ejected from 

the site will be made and details retained.  

15.6 Authorisation for evictions will only be made by the C9 Management team and will 

be logged with control before the point of eviction. Duty of care will be observed 

for evictees, to ensure their safety and wellbeing. 

  

Page 104



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  73 

Alcohol and Drugs Policy 

Alcohol 

16.1 Bar set up and operations will be managed and overseen by a competent and 

reputable contractor.  

16.2 Whilst the resorts offer guests a range of alcoholic drink for tasting and drinking, 

the Resort Organisers will not tolerate excessive alcohol consumption. 

16.3 The alcohol policy is available as an appendix to this document.  

16.4 The bar contractor shall operate a challenge 25 Policy across all bars, requiring ID 

to be shown for proof of age for anyone believed to be under 25.  

16.5 A log of refusals should be kept by the bar operator. 

16.6 The DPS will be Nick Aston as the Operations Manager  

16.7 Drinks will not be sold or served in glass vessels. They will be decanted into plastic 

receptacles.  

Drugs 

16.8 C9 has a no-drugs ethos and a no drugs policy. BD Events Ltd will act against 

anyone in possession of illegal drugs. Neither do they endorse the use of 

psychoactive substances or other mind-altering substances such as NO2 noting 

that these are not appropriate at resorts of this nature.   

16.9 Security and all other resort staff will be briefed on the resort drugs policy as part 

of the safety induction. 

16.10 C9 will adopt the following protocols:  

1. The resort management reserves the right to search ticket holders for drugs 

and any other illegal or dangerous items on entry to the resorts  

Page 105



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  74 

2.  Anyone found in possession of drugs will be ejected from the site (if safe to 

do so) and the police informed. 

3. Serious drug abusers (e.g. behaving in a threatening way, apparently under 

the influence, even if not in possession) and dealers will be detained and 

handed over to the police. 

4. Anyone discovered selling drugs will be detained by security and held in a 

secure place until they can be handed over to the police.  

5. Anyone suspected of being under the influence of illegal drugs will be dealt 

with by security appropriately. Depending on the circumstances this may 

involve refusal to admit to the site; removal from a venue or area; searching 

and confiscation of substances or paraphernalia; ejection from the site; 

detention awaiting arrival of police. 

16.11 The full policy is given in the appendices of this document.  

  

Page 106



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  75 

Medical, Ambulance and First Aid 

17.1 The objectives of medical provision are: 

• Provide immediate care for causalities requiring urgent assistance 

• Liaise with the local NHS and ambulance service regarding transfers to the 

NHS facilities 

• Treat and discharge minor medical complaints; to help minimise the impact 

of the resorts on the local health economy 

17.2 Medical provision at the resorts will be supplied by a reputable and professional 

medical contractor. The selected contractor will have experience of medical care 

at resorts.  

17.3 The required level of provision will be decided by a medical risk assessment. The 

exact level of provision will be detailed in the medical plan which is available as a 

separate document nearer the event.  

17.4 The medical team will be provided with a dedicated medical location at the site’s 

main reception. This area can also be used as an isolation unit for anyone showing 

symptoms of COVID-19 and the team will follow the latest guidance provided PHE 

at the time.  

17.5 Mobile first aid patrols will be undertaken regularly so medics have a presence 

around the site. 

17.6 In the event of a serious incident requiring an air ambulance, the landing site will 

be as near to the resort site as possible and the location will be clearly marked on 

the site plan.  

17.7 Medical provision will be discussed with the local ambulance service 

representative(s) to ensure a suitable level of on-site facilities is provided. Suitable 

Page 107



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  76 

patient transfer and pick-up points will be identified, and the principal First Aid 

Point will offer ready access to ambulances.   

17.8 The nature of the resorts and anticipated audience profile does not give rise to 

particular concerns regarding additional or extreme levels of medical requirement 

i.e. there are no special risks to the public for which additional medical facilities 

may be required. 

17.9 During the Build and Break phases the contractors, security and first aid trained 

staff onsite will provide medical assistance. 999 calls may be made as in any other 

medical emergency.  

17.10 The closest hospital with an A&E department shall be identified and the address, 

distance etc shall be clearly displayed in the resort production and staff offices. 

This is also detailed below.  

Nearest A&E – C9 Bathurst Site  

• Gloucestershire Royal Hospital  

• Great Western Road 

Gloucester 

Gloucestershire 

GL1 3NN 

• 03004 222 222 

• Distance – 15 miles from site 

 
 

  

Page 108



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  77 

Waste Management 

18.1 A contractor with experience of outdoor events will install temporary toilets 

around the resort sites.  

18.2 The level of provision will be in line with that set out in BS 6465-1:2006 and 

Amendment1:2009 Sanitary installations, other event specific guidance and based 

on previous experience and knowledge of the nature of the C9 resorts. The 

provision will consist of a mixture of types, including urinals, polyjohns, flush-type 

and recirculating units.  

18.3 The level of provision is likely to exceed the above standard given the nature of 

the resort and audience profile.  

18.4 Plastic polyjohns toilets will be placed to the rear of each accommodation so that 

they can be used solely by that accommodation’s inhabitants.  

18.5 There will be a dedicated cleaning team who are responsible for regular cleans of 

all toilets across site including full sanitation and cleaning of the main touch points. 

There will be hand sanitisation points outside each toilet facility on site.  

18.6 There will be a dedicated waste contractor employed throughout the ‘open’ phase 

to dispose of the toilet waste, which will be done a minimum of twice weekly.   

18.7 JPS have been engaged as the waste management contractor who will be 

responsible for removal of all waste from site, including litter picking, skip & bin 

provision. The site will undergo a ‘pre-opening’ clean, and it is planned that the 

site will be handed back in its original condition 4 days after the event has ended.  

18.8 There will be a two-stream recycling system operating across site, with a large 

quantity of bins placed in key areas across site. There will be a BOH skip and sorting 

area which will be maintained by the waste management team. Skips will be for 

general waste, recycling, and glass. The skips will be exchanged regularly 

throughout the resort when full.  

Page 109



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  78 

18.9 There will be a dedicated litter picking operating on all live days to ensure there is 

no build-up of waste or hazardous items. This team is made up of up to 5 people, 

which is more than adequate for the size of site & nature of the resort.  

Temporary Water  
19.1 C9 will engage the services of a competent contractor, experienced in temporary 

water provision at events.  

19.2 The will design, implement and manage a temporary water solution across the 

glamping resort site. This will include the testing and verification of existing / mains 

fed water supplies and the temporary ring mains used to provide water to the 

resort.  

19.3 There are existing water tanks within the Bathurst estate that will be drawn from 

and plumbed in to the C9 water solution. The draw from these will constitute 

approximately 75% of designed requirement. The remaining percentage will be 

made up from water tankers brought onto site and or pillow tanks.  

19.4 All materials, connections and fittings will be compliant with Water Supply (water 

fittings) regulations 1999, BS:9620.2.21:2000 and are WRAS approved.  

19.5 The contractor shall be responsible for installing the temporary pipework and 

sampling each connection / standpipe installed. They will provide all testing results 

direct to BD Events to demonstrate that the installation is compliant with Water 

Supply (water quality) regulations 2000 and BS:8551:2015.  

  

Page 110



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  79 

Tree Survey  
20.1 The C9 site plan and activities within, extend into the woodland areas and as such, 

it has been agreed with the estate that they shall carry out a detailed tree survey 

of the resort site area. Trees requiring remedial works such as limbs removed or 

felling, will be identified and a schedule of works agreed.  

20.2 This will happen well in far enough in advance of the event to carry out any 

remedial works as identified by the survey.  

20.3  As a second tier of control, the contractors providing activities utilising the tree 

will attend site ahead of the event and inspect the areas alongside the tree survey. 

These inspections as informed by the report, will inform and direct their 

operations.  

 
Lost Property 

21.1 Lost property will be retained at the Production Office and any unclaimed items 

will be taken to the local police station or back to the main BD Events offices 

following conclusion. 

21.2 Lost property will be held and made available for a period of 28 days.  

  

Page 111



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  80 

Incident Procedures 

22.1 Response to any serious on-site incident will be provided by the appropriate 

Emergency Service(s) in the normal way, supported by the Resorts Operations 

Managers and RCT.  However, it is likely that stewards or other resort personnel 

may be the first on the scene, so the following procedure is intended to enable an 

appropriate initial response before professional teams arrive.  

22.2  In respect of all incidents, stewards or any resort personnel at the scene must 

advise RCT by the quickest available means and pass all relevant information 

rapidly and discretely. 

22.3 In all instances stewards or other resort staff will be briefed to keep notes in a 

resort logbook of incidents and actions taken.  These records will assist in a review 

of the resorts and may be required as evidence in any investigation. 

Conditions Green, Amber and Red 

22.4  The following phrases will be used to denote states of readiness and response to 

incidents.  

22.5 Under normal conditions the resort will be deemed to be operating in a Condition 

Green.  This indicates that staff should continue with their normal duties. 

22.6 If a serious incident has occurred or is imminent, RCT may determine that staff 

should be brought to a heightened state of readiness.  This is denoted by Condition 

Amber. 

22.7 RCT shall broadcast the following radio announcement: 

 “Attention all call signs - Condition Amber now exists – all staff to observe radio 

silence and await further instruction” (repeat) 

22.8 On hearing such a radio call staff must: 

• Maintain radio silence 

Page 112



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  81 

• Prepare to make announcements to the public 

• Prepare for public evacuation 

• Await instruction 

22.9 If the incident is sufficiently serious, RCT may decide to raise the status to 

Condition Red.  In such instances the following radio announcement shall be 

broadcast: 

 “Please Note - Condition Red now exists – all resort staff to observe radio silence 

and await further instruction” (repeat) 

22.10 Following a Condition Red alert: 

• Stewards, technical and medical personnel will be directed to the incident 

by RCT 

• Public will be cleared from the immediate vicinity of the incident and 

immediate action taken to safeguard life and then property (if this does not 

put personnel at risk) until the incident has been suitably contained.   

• Stewards will keep access routes clear for emergency vehicles. 

22.11 Standing Down from Condition Red or Amber.  Once an incident has been suitably 

resolved, RCT may determine that normal operations can be resumed. At such 

times the following radio announcement shall be made: 

 “All resort staff please note that we have reverted to Condition Green - revert to 

normal duties” (repeat) 

  

Page 113



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  82 

States of Readiness & Resultant Actions

Green RedAmber

Normal Operations
Staff continue with normal 

duties

Monitor and Review

Heightened State of 
Readiness

Radio Silence
Await further instruction 

from Event Control

Prepare for:
Announcements to public

Evacuation
Further Instruction

Incident 
Resolved?

Deploy
Stewards, medics, tech to 

incident.
Directed by Event Control

Clear Vicinity
Clear public, safeguard life 

then property.
Keep access routes clear

Evacuate
Announcements to public

Evacuation
Further Instruction

Incident 
Resolved?

Yes No No

Yes

22.12 The conditions and associated states of readiness are summarised in the 

following flowchart

Page 114



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  83 

Typical Incident Flow Process

Observe
Staff or public observes 

incident

Report
Reported to staff

Communicate
Staff contacts Event 

Control

Observe
Security observes 

incident

Report
Reported to supervisor

Communicate
Supervisor contacts 

Event Control

Event Control
Consults with relevant agencies

Major 
Incident?

Head of Security
Directs and assigns 

resources

Update
Event Control 

Incident 
Resolved?

Blue Light Services
Informed and actioned

Make Available
Resource and equipment 

SFARP

Update
Event Control 

Public / Staff 
observed 
incident

Security 
Observed 
Incident

No Yes

No

Yes Feedback

22.13 The standard incident procedure for the resorts is outlined in the flow chart below. 

This models an incident reported via resort staff, Security and or Public channels.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  84 

Fire within the main resort site or entertainment venue  

22.14 Should a steward or any resort personnel discover, or be advised of, a fire within 

the resort site they must: 

1. Raise the alarm with RCT informing them of the nature and location 

of the incident. They will in turn alert the Fire Service and any 

emergency service representatives in RCT to initiate a suitable 

response.  

2. Assist in evacuating the public from the vicinity of the incident. 

3. Tackle the fire with appropriate firefighting equipment only if trained 

to do so and if it can be done without placing yourself in danger. 

4. Assist in clearing an access route for emergency service vehicles. 

5. Once the incident has been dealt with and the site declared safe by 

the Fire Service, RCT will issue a ‘stand down’ call and the resort may 

recommence.  

  

Page 116



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  85 

Lost/Found Children & Vulnerable Persons 

23.1 The resort is aimed at families, with the adult / child ratio operating on roughly a 

50/50 split.  

23.2 BD Events Ltd are committed to maintaining the safety and wellbeing of all persons 

on site, notably of younger persons. This commitment reflects one of the core 

objectives of the licencing act 2003 to protect children. Their safety is also covered 

under the Health and Safety at work act 1974 and the Children Act 2004.  

23.3 To accommodate the younger audience during the open phase, we have drawn up 

a safeguarding policy to outline the arrangements that meet our obligations and 

duty of care towards young persons, as well as the specific statutory requirements 

noted above. This policy is available as a separate document.  

23.4 It is made clear on the resort website and in any other advance communication 

that guests who bring their children to the resort hold full responsibility for the 

safety and welfare of their children. 

23.5 No persons under the age of 18 years shall be employed, volunteer or otherwise 

be engaged to carry out work at the resort unless subject to a specific, individual 

risk assessment.  

23.6 Persons aged 16 & 17 are not required to be accompanied by an adult whilst on 

site. to ensure that a duty of care is provided to these persons, we have 

established the following arrangements in conjunction with the chosen security 

company.   

23.7 Any person buying alcohol and is suspected of being under the age of 25 will be 

asked for proof of age following the Challenge 25 policy.  

23.8 Security personnel will be assigned to look out for groups of younger attendees 

and be vigilant to potential proxy sale groups.  

Page 117



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  86 

Reported Lost & Vulnerable Person Process

Lost Person Reported 

Relevent info captured

Remain in Situ for 20 
mins

Dispatch staff to scene

Search last seen and 
immediate areas

Information 
comunicated out to all 

staff

Vulnerable Person 
or Chid?

Focus on Exits 
Immediately

Ensure description passed 
to all relevant perimeter 

staff

Yes

Repeat description 
calls over radio net 

every 10 mins
No

Search last seen and 
immediate areas

Sex, Age, Height, Description, Clothing, 
distinguishing features, last seen, vulnerability 

etc...

If not found after 10 
mins - Inform Police 

via 101 

Follow guidance of 
Police 

If not found after 10 
mins - Inform Police 

via 101 

Follow guidance of 
Police 

Remain in Situ for 20 
mins

Site Wide Search

Site Wide Search

23.9 The lost children and vulnerable persons policy is given as: 

  

Page 118



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  87 

23.10 Should lost or found children be encountered, the following procedure will be 

adopted.  

Lost Child 

1. If a parent or guardian reports a child as missing, then RCT shall obtain all 

relevant details including their on-site mobile number from the parent or 

other responsible adult, which will be recorded.   

2. The person reporting the missing child will be asked to remain in situ and 

security personnel will be despatched to join them.  A low-profile search 

will be conducted in the location where the child was last seen, and 

between that point and where the parent/guardians were or where the 

child was last seen.  Concurrently a description of the missing person will 

be broadcast over the security radio net to remain vigilant for the child. 

3. Particular attention will be focused on the exit points to the site to ensure 

that the child does not leave the resort unaccompanied. Advanced steward 

/ security briefing shall address the need to remain vigilant to distressed 

children be taken from the site, possibly against their will.  

4. Repeat the description after 10 and 20 minutes if the child has not been 

reunited after 30 minutes, the police will be informed, and a more active 

search will be undertaken of the whole resort site. 

5. If after an hour, or on the advice of the police, the child has still not been 

located staff will begin asking guests if anyone matching the description 

has been seen and gathering intel.   

6. From this point on, the Organisers shall maintain the search as noted 

above, and will seek further guidance from the police. 

Found Child 

Page 119



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  88 

1. Any member of staff finding an unaccompanied child should remain in situ 

with the child and immediately report the situation to RCT. Wait for 

dedicated member of staff - the child will be taken to an agreed safe 

location (such as an information point or first aid facility).  

2. All relevant details will be taken; including the name or any contact 

information for the parent/guardian. 

3. If a mobile phone number is known (e.g. written on the child’s hand/arm), 

RCT will contact them and advise of the child’s location. 

4. A general broadcast will be made on the security radio channel advising all 

users that a child of said description has been found, and any person 

presenting to staff claiming to have lost a child should be notified of the 

location (assuming the child is the same as that found). 

5. RCT will despatch an SIA accredited member of staff to the location where 

the child has been found.  They will remain in situ for no less than fifteen 

minutes.  If after this period there has been no contact from the parents, 

the child will be taken to an agreed safe location (such as an information 

point or first aid facility).  

6. Proof of identity of the person claim in the child needs to be recorded. 

7. Accredited DBS checked personnel would staff the safe location.  

  

Page 120



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  89 

Cancellation and Evacuation Procedure 

24.1  Enclosed structures will have their own individual evacuation arrangements in 

accordance with the requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

2005. 

24.2 Note as previously outlined in points, the Resort Organisers will ensure suitable 

and sufficient H&S arrangements for “Resort / C9 Managed” venues only. It 

remains a legal requirement incumbent on any commercial employers outside of 

the resort Management to discharge all relevant their duties.   

24.3 The final decision as to whether an incident warrants evacuation of the resort site 

shall be made by the Operations Director with competent consultation from RCT 

and in conjunction with key staff and statutory stakeholders (where relevant). 

24.4 Should such action be required all stewarding and production staff will be 

informed by priority radio call changing the operating condition to amber or red 

as appropriate.  

24.5 Any full-scale evacuation of the site may be problematic and disruptive to 

attending blue light services, therefore the preference would be to contain 

incidents within the resort site and move people to a place of safety until the issue 

is resolved.  

24.6 Guests may have to leave site and to a place of relative safety. As such a considered 

announcement or message must be given and consisting of the following 

attributes:  

 “Ladies and Gentlemen, your attention please.  This is an important safety 

message.  Due to circumstances (explain circumstances if possible) beyond our 

control it is necessary to evacuate the resort site. 

Page 121



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  90 

Will you please leave as quickly as possible and follow the directions of the safety 

stewards.  Do not stop to collect any bags or personal items. Cloud 9 will resume 

as soon as it is safe to do so.”  

24.7 Loud hailers will be used to give emergency messages and direction to resort 

guests and staff. 

24.8  The decision to permit re-admission to the incident area and the re-starting of the 

resort or entertainment (depending on the nature and location of the incident) will 

be made by senior C9 Management in consultation with the Head of Security, 

Senior Safety Officer, RCT and the Police.  

24.9 Temporary muster points are achievable and will be established both within the 

resort footprints for guests and off site as RV points for the Emergency Services. 

24.10 All proposed muster points and RV points will be made available to the SAG and 

detailed within in the Evacuation plan. This will be available as a separate 

document. 

24.11 Given the nature and the size of the site locations, it is reasonable to suggest that 

most instances requiring evacuation can be accommodated within the resort site 

itself. This can be termed Invacuation. 

24.12 In the event of a call made by RCT to evacuate the site, all useable exits will be 

opened and staffed with the resort security personnel to direct guests to the 

nearest exit and to a place of ultimate safety. 

24.13 Should any of the main exits have to be discounted due to the location of the 

incident, security control shall advise their ground stewards of this immediately 

and alternative means of escape established. 

24.14  In any situation requiring evacuation, be it Invacuation or full site evacuation, 

provision should be made to task security with ensuring that the intended Muster 

Page 122



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  91 

/ Assembly Points are free from risk and or suspect packages, vehicles, items etc. 

before the decision to direct persons to this location is taken. 

24.15 Prior to making any public announcements, security and stewards will be deployed 

to exit points and will stand by for public departure.  Any queues or persons 

waiting outside (individual venues or main entry points) will be advised the resort 

is closing and queue lane barriers will be removed. 

24.16 So far as is practicable, the public will make use of the same exit and dispersal 

routes as they used for entry. However, in the case of emergency, alternative exit 

gates from the resort site may be used. 

24.17 Should any issue prompt cancellation of the resort prior to audience arrival on site; 

the Resort Organisers shall seek to make the decision to cancel in conjunction with 

key stakeholders as rapidly as possible.  Causes for cancellation might include; 

adverse weather, national mourning, major incident in the vicinity and so on.  

24.18 Public information platforms shall include: C9 resort websites, Apps, local and 

relevant media, twitter, Facebook etc.  

24.19 In the instance of cancellation during the event, the Resort Organisers shall ensure 

that all relevant stakeholders are included in the decision and procedure for 

cancellation. 

24.20 All media communication shall be directed through C9 management, BD EVENTS 

LTD and via their appointed Media Manager. All staff will be instructed in the 

appropriate etiquette and channel of communications.    

Major Incidents  

25.1 The Resort Organisers will deal with minor incidents in consultation with on-site 

resources (or on occasion the emergency services working within their normal 

sphere of operations).  

Page 123



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  92 

25.2 A major incident is defined as:    

“Any emergency that requires the implementation of special arrangements 

by one or more of the emergency services; or the local authority”. 

25.3 Whether an incident is categorised as such is a matter for the Emergency Services 

or in certain circumstances the Local Authority. 

25.4 In the event of a Major Incident the Resort Organisers shall ensure that all the 

resources and personnel on site are made available to the relevant Police 

Commander to assist in a co-ordinated response to the incident. 

25.5 In the event of a serious incident an Emergency Services Rendezvous Point (RVP) 

or points will be established at location(s) will be confirmed by SAG. 

  

Page 124



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  93 

Counter Terrorism Strategy 

26.1 This section will outline the guidance and tools used across the resort sites and 

wider BD Events Ltd / C9 team.  

26.2 Ongoing and very tragic events have sharpened the focus of the events industry 

even more on counter terrorism works.  

26.3 The overriding ethos being briefed throughout the C9 team is to Remain Vigilant 

and NOT alarmed. This is crucial in keeping perspective but whilst starting to build 

an open forum / framework and support those putting their hands up to say / 

report something.  

We must remain vigilant and professional, not alarmed and reactionary. 
 

26.4 The resort can outwardly display an organised and thorough / secure approach to 

works. This presents a difficult environment for terrorists to operate within and is 

a key control through all phases of the event cycle.  

26.5 Leadership is key and whilst this plan outlines detailed processes for modelled 

evacuation, it must be augmented with key briefings onsite identifying who is 

charged with which part of the plan, i.e. who will put their hand up and act. This 

will be achieved through production meetings that will include the following key 

personnel: 

• Resort Control Team 

• Operations Manager 

• Site Manager 

• Security Manager 

26.6 Staff are to be made aware of Red Routes, Evacuation Points, RVPS and routes to 

and from site. This will comprise of the models used within this plan. 

Page 125



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  94 

26.7 After briefing this information through the heads of department it should be 

disseminated down to a local level and consist of: 

• A simple plan discussed amongst the team is all that is required.  

• Identify the key people within that plan 

• Identify key area(s) of safety / routes to take 

• Agree how and over what channels you will communicate 

• Test the communication functions and links  

26.8 It is essential that security becomes everyone’s responsibility and that all staff put 

their best customer facing hats on to engage with as many people as possible 

alongside security. This is proactive way to outwardly project organisation.  

26.9 Potential hostiles will not want such attention and the policy will be briefed as one 

of Proactive Engagement.  

26.10 Consider C9 security operations at ALL stages of the event. i.e. Build, show and de-

rig. It is highly likely that any scoping of resorts / venues will be aligned to our own 

build / planning phases. 

26.11 Staff should be briefed as to what constitutes suspicious behaviour, this is 

identified as: 

Page 126



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  95 

 

26.12 Specifically, for use onsite and at a ground route staff level, this can be condensed 

down to: 

If you See Something, Say Something 

Such activities may include: 

• Vehicles & Packages – Out of place and left in odd locations and unattended. Use 

the H.O.T model here 

§ Has the object / vehicle been deliberately Hidden 

§ Is there an Obvious threat (protruding wires, timer etc.) 

§ Is it Typical to the event / venue 

• Eliciting Information - Persons questioning anyone from the resort team at a level 

beyond curiosity around the resorts / venues purpose, operations, security 

procedures and/or personnel, shift changes, etc. 

Page 127



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  96 

• Observation / Surveillance - Someone pays unusual attention to facilities or 

buildings beyond a casual or professional interest. This includes extended 

loitering without explanation (particularly in concealed locations); unusual, 

repeated, and/or prolonged observation of a building (e.g., with binoculars or 

video camera); taking notes or measurements; counting paces; sketching floor 

plans, etc. 

26.13 Given other related events it is perhaps easy to concentrate on improvised 

explosive devices (IED’s) but the teams will remain vigilant to a full range of attack 

methodologies particularly those of vehicles used as weapons, bladed weapons, 

lone wolf / lone actor attacks and IED’s both personally borne and within vehicles. 

26.14 Vehicles onsite left unattended and with the keys still in them must be avoided at 

all costs. This control needs to be briefed to every person in charge of a vehicle on 

site and managed. There are no excuses. 

26.15 Exit strategy could play a big part during a site evacuation, especially if this is 

having to be called dynamically.  

26.16 Communications will be tested; such tests will include: 

• Does every channel on the radio work 

• Is there a clear channel list 

• Is someone listening out on the RCT channel 

• Do medical and security have radios and have these been tested 

• Are the contact details and location of the nearest A&E on the office walls 

• Make sure your team have access to a fully stocked first aid kit 

26.17 Staff will be briefed on hi viz blindness and the fact that just because someone has 

hi viz on and a pass does not mean they are necessarily supposed to be there.  

Page 128



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  97 

26.18 It is not unreasonable to suggest that anyone wishing to access the site and carry 

out reconnaissance may also have access to a hi viz vest and ID / pass cards, so it 

is up to all staff to challenge them. 

26.19 C9 aims to build and maintain a culture where we are proud to be doing things the 

right way and we support anyone who reports something out of the ordinary. 

26.20 The tools used include: 

CPNI Guidance  

 

Page 129



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  98 

Run Hide Tell 

 
Probably nothing BUT 

 

Page 130



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  99 

Hidden, Obvious, Typical 

 
 

Minimum Cordon Distances are given as: 

• Briefcase, rucksack, small suitcase – 100m 

• Car – 200m 

• Lorry / HGV – 400m 

26.21 The Police will take control of the situation as soon as they arrive on the scene.  

Staff should assist the Police and carry out any instructions given. 

26.22 Recent works through resilience groups have highlighted the Remove, Remove, 

Remove model for hazardous chemical and acid attack incidents. This will be 

communicated out across relevant staff and teams.  

  

Page 131



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  100 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26.23 C9 shall liaise with local police in the period running up to the event to determine 

whether an increased terror alert is in place and additional vigilance necessary.  

This may result in enhanced search on entry; intelligence led targeting of 

individuals or a range of other measures as agreed with the Police. 

  

Page 132



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  101 

Media Management  

27.1 It is important that as far as possible, media liaison is controlled and effective. 

Media management shall be the responsibility of the Resort Organisers.    

27.2 Management of the media will lie with BD Events Marketing and Communications 

Director 

27.3 In the event of a serious incident, any media message shall be agreed between the 

BD Events Ltd Press Officer and the relevant representative of the local Police 

and/or Local Authority. No other member of staff, contractor or supplier should 

make any statement to the press unless under the direct authorisation of the 

licensee.  

27.4 No other member of staff, contractor or supplier should make any statement to 

the press unless under the direct authorisation of the event director.  

27.5 A crisis comms plan will be produced ahead of the show & will be available to view 

as a separate document on request.  

Page 133



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  102 

Appendix 1. Site Plans 
The C9 site plans are provided here for reference and are correct at the time of publish. The site 
plans are live documents and as such the Resort Organiser reserves the right to update, and 
amends plans as the planning of the resorts progress.  

Page 134



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  103 

Track

HUNTING RIDE (TRACK)

Track

Hain
es

Track

Track

O
ak

le
y 

W
oo

d

Bo
tto

m

Track

BI
SL

EY
 P

AT
H 

(T
RA

CK
)

As
h

Tr
ac

k

Track

W
el

lh
ill

 P
la

nt
at

io
n

Track

Track

C
at

he
dr

al
 F

irs

Hain
es

 A
sh

 B
ot

to
m

Track

Trac
k

Track

Tr
ac

k

Track

Tr
ac

k

Th
e 

V
ie

w
 P

oi
nt

Hi
gh

 S
trik

er

Tr
am

po
lin

es
Do

dg
em

s

BO
H 

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
Ar

ea

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
Ca

m
pin

g

P
ro

du
ct

io
n 

C
ar

 P
ar

k
35

7 
C

ar
s

V
is

ito
r C

ar
 P

ar
k

35
0 

C
ar

s 
P

er
 H

ec
ta

re
0.

85
   

   
   

   
   

   
  H

ec
ta

re
s

30
0 

C
ar

s

Th
e 

N
oo

k

S
po

rts
 F

ie
ld

B
us

h 
C

ra
ft

S
pa

A
ct

iv
ity

 A
re

a

H
ig

h 
R

op
es

& Tr
ee

 C
lim

bi
ng

Th
e 

W
oo

d
S

he
d

N
.T

.S
.

M
ic

ro
M

a
p

T
e

l 
0
7
7
8
6
 5

2
0
5
6
0

m
a

il
@

m
ic

ro
m

a
p

-e
ve

n
ts

.c
o

.u
k

C
LO

U
D

 N
IN

E
 G

LA
M

P
IN

G
 2

02
1

S
ite

 A
re

a 
P

la
n

W
or

ki
ng

 D
ra

w
in

g.
...

S
ub

je
ct

 to
 fu

rth
er

 c
ha

ng
e

at
 th

e 
di

sc
re

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
ev

en
t o

rg
an

is
er

.

B
A

TH
U

R
S

T 
E

S
TA

TE
C

IR
E

N
C

E
S

TE
R

C
LO

U
D

 N
IN

E
 S

IT
E

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

C
LO

U
D

 N
IN

E
 A

C
TI

V
IT

Y
 Z

O
N

E

A
C

C
E

S
S

 R
O

U
TE

B
A

TH
U

R
S

T 
E

S
TA

TE
 H

O
R

S
E

 R
ID

E
 
 

Page 135



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  104 

Appendix 2. Red Routes   

 

C9
 –

 R
ed

 R
ou

te
s 

to
 S

ite
 –

 B
at

hu
rs

t E
st

at
e 

– 
V2

 
 

Re
d 

Ro
ut

es
: 

• 
RR

1 
– 

Vi
a 

Ce
ci

ly
 H

ill
, 

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g 

fr
om

 th
e 

so
ut

h 
Ea

st
 

• 
RR

2 
– 

Vi
a 

O
ve

rle
y 

Rd
, 

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g 

fr
om

 th
e 

N
or

th
 

• 
RR

3 
–T

ow
ar

ds
 A

41
9,

 

co
ul

d 
be

 u
se

d 
as

 o
ne

 

w
ay

 fo
r v

eh
ic

le
s 

m
ov

in
g 

aw
ay

 fr
om

 s
ite

 

• 
RV

P 
to

 s
ou

th
 e

as
t o

f 

sit
e,

 n
ea

r t
o 

pr
od

uc
tio

n 

ca
r p

ar
k 

N
ot
e:

  

Im
po

rt
an

t t
o 

co
nf

irm
 

th
e 

RR
 w

ith
 fi

re
 

br
ig

ad
e 

an
d 

w
he

re
ve

r 
po

ss
ib

le
. R

R’
s 

sh
ou

ld
 

be
 p

ro
te

ct
ed

. 

 

RR
1 

RR
2 

RV
P1

 

Page 136



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  105 

Appendix 3. Traffic Routes around Bathurst Estate  

 

SE
B

SE
B

M
EB

M
EB

Pa
rki

ng

19
4.

26
 a

c

Page 137



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  106 

Appendix 4. Alcohol Policy  

 
  

C9– AP- V1-2021  1 

Cloud 9 - 2021 Alcohol Policy   
C9 has a robust alcohol policy. The Aims of the policy are to: 

1. Prevent drunkenness leading to crime, disorder and abuse of event staff, bar staff and 

members of the public.  

2. Prevent Drink Driving  

3. Prevent self-harm (slips, trips and fall; exposure to sun or cold, irrational behaviour etc.) as a 

result of excessive consumption. 

4. Prevent under-age drinking. 

5. Reduce the chances of broken glass contamination of the site.  

To these ends: 

1. The site will be licensed for the supply of alcohol by retail and will abide by the conditions of 

the license and operating schedule regarding opening times methods. 

2. There will be a DPS for the C9 events and nominated deputies at each site to oversee the 

operation of all bars. 

3. There will be an appropriate number of SIA registered door supervisors onsite to monitor 

behaviour and assist in the peaceful operation of the bars and outlets. 

4. A robust and secure cash management system will be in place involving secure cash registers 

placed at the rear of the bar and frequent banking with security escorts. 

5. Guests can bring a small quantity of alcohol, for personal consumption, onto site  

6. No alcohol will be sold to persons under the age of 18 and the Challenge 25 rules shall be 

enforced 

7. Persons discovered buying alcohol for someone who is underage you may be ejected from the 

site or reported to the police. 

8. Aggressive or threatening drunken behaviour will not be tolerated. Persons may be detained 

by security, ejected from the site, or reported to the police. 

9. C9 and drinks staff are required by law to refuse to serve anyone they suspect of being 

intoxicated.  

Page 138



 

C9 - Bathurst - 2021-ESMP V3  107 

1 
C9-Drugs Policy V1 

Cloud 9-2021-Drugs Policy 
 
This document describes the C9 policy on illegal drugs, psychoactive substances and 
miscellaneous mind-altering substances and the measures taken to control them. 

C9 has a no-drugs ethos and a no drugs policy. This means that the event organisers will take 
action against anyone in possession of illegal drugs. Neither do they endorse the use of 
psychoactive substances or other mind-altering substances such as NO2. These have no 
place at a responsible event. 

Security, contractors and all other event staff will be briefed on the PitP-DW drug policy as 
part of the safety induction. 

C9 has these simple rules: 

1. C9 Management reserves the right to search ticket holders for drugs and any other 
illegal or dangerous items on entry to the festival. 
 

2.  Anyone found in possession of drugs will be ejected from the site (if safe to do so) and 
the police informed. 
 

3. Serious drug abusers (e.g. behaving in a threatening way, apparently under the 
influence, even if not in possession) and dealers will be detained and handed over to 
the police. 
 

4. Anyone discovered selling drugs will be detained by security and held in a secure place 
until they can be handed over to the police.  
 

5. Anyone suspected of being under the influence of illegal drugs will be dealt with by 
security appropriately. Depending on the circumstances this may involve refusal to 
admit to the site; removal from a venue or area; searching and confiscation of 
substances or paraphernalia; ejection from the site; detention awaiting arrival of police. 

C9 has an absolute ban on the use of NO2 capsules. While the intoxicating effects are not 
especially long lasting or disruptive to the event, the capsules are invariably left on the ground 
and are a hazard to event staff and park users after the event. Any stocks of NO2 found will 
be confiscated and destroyed. 

It should be noted that across the past year of C9 there have been no significant issue, 
incidents, or challenges with illegal drugs / substances at the event. The controls in place are 
therefore deemed suitable and sufficient and will be monitored ongoing as part of best 
practice.  

 

Appendix 5. Drugs Policy  

 

 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



C9– AP- V1-2021  1 

Cloud 9 - 2021 Alcohol Policy   
C9 has a robust alcohol policy. The Aims of the policy are to: 

1. Prevent drunkenness leading to crime, disorder and abuse of event staff, bar staff and 

members of the public.  

2. Prevent Drink Driving  

3. Prevent self-harm (slips, trips and fall; exposure to sun or cold, irrational behaviour etc.) as a 

result of excessive consumption. 

4. Prevent under-age drinking. 

5. Reduce the chances of broken glass contamination of the site.  

To these ends: 

1. The site will be licensed for the supply of alcohol by retail and will abide by the conditions of 

the license and operating schedule regarding opening times methods. 

2. There will be a DPS for the C9 events and nominated deputies at each site to oversee the 

operation of all bars. 

3. There will be an appropriate number of SIA registered door supervisors onsite to monitor 

behaviour and assist in the peaceful operation of the bars and outlets. 

4. A robust and secure cash management system will be in place involving secure cash registers 

placed at the rear of the bar and frequent banking with security escorts. 

5. Guests can bring a small quantity of alcohol, for personal consumption, onto site  

6. No alcohol will be sold to persons under the age of 18 and the Challenge 25 rules shall be 

enforced 

7. Persons discovered buying alcohol for someone who is underage you may be ejected from the 

site or reported to the police. 

8. Aggressive or threatening drunken behaviour will not be tolerated. Persons may be detained 

by security, ejected from the site, or reported to the police. 

9. C9 and drinks staff are required by law to refuse to serve anyone they suspect of being 

intoxicated.  

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
C9-Drugs Policy V1 

Cloud 9-2021-Drugs Policy 
 
This document describes the C9 policy on illegal drugs, psychoactive substances and 
miscellaneous mind-altering substances and the measures taken to control them. 

C9 has a no-drugs ethos and a no drugs policy. This means that the event organisers will take 
action against anyone in possession of illegal drugs. Neither do they endorse the use of 
psychoactive substances or other mind-altering substances such as NO2. These have no 
place at a responsible event. 

Security, contractors and all other event staff will be briefed on the PitP-DW drug policy as 
part of the safety induction. 

C9 has these simple rules: 

1. C9 Management reserves the right to search ticket holders for drugs and any other 
illegal or dangerous items on entry to the festival. 
 

2.  Anyone found in possession of drugs will be ejected from the site (if safe to do so) and 
the police informed. 
 

3. Serious drug abusers (e.g. behaving in a threatening way, apparently under the 
influence, even if not in possession) and dealers will be detained and handed over to 
the police. 
 

4. Anyone discovered selling drugs will be detained by security and held in a secure place 
until they can be handed over to the police.  
 

5. Anyone suspected of being under the influence of illegal drugs will be dealt with by 
security appropriately. Depending on the circumstances this may involve refusal to 
admit to the site; removal from a venue or area; searching and confiscation of 
substances or paraphernalia; ejection from the site; detention awaiting arrival of police. 

C9 has an absolute ban on the use of NO2 capsules. While the intoxicating effects are not 
especially long lasting or disruptive to the event, the capsules are invariably left on the ground 
and are a hazard to event staff and park users after the event. Any stocks of NO2 found will 
be confiscated and destroyed. 

It should be noted that across the past year of C9 there have been no significant issue, 
incidents, or challenges with illegal drugs / substances at the event. The controls in place are 
therefore deemed suitable and sufficient and will be monitored ongoing as part of best 
practice.  

 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Track

Manor Farm

Track

Tr
ac

k

Tr
ac

k

Track

HU
NT

IN
G

 R
ID

E 
(T

RA
CK

)

2

Tr
ac

k

Tanks

Pavilion

Track

Sally Copse

Haines

Track

Wellhill Copse

Lay-by

Ke
m

bl
e 

Vi
ew

Purley Cottages

Haines Ash Bottom

Cirencester Park

Tr
ac

k

Mile Stone

Round Tower

Moss's Copse

Ivy

Cross Roads

Tr
ac

k

2

The Braddocks

Daglingworth Wicks

Track

Forest Garden

Workings

Tr
ac

k

A 419

Oakley Wood

Tr
ac

k
Broad Ride

Reservoir

Track

The Granary

Cottage

Coates View

Track

Bottom

Horseguards Plantation

Track

Royal Agricultural College

Tr
ac

k

Polo Ground

BISLEY PATH (TRACK)

Upper Field Barn

ROAD

Track

Moss's Copse

Ash

Track

Terraces

Th
e 

M
al

tin
gs

Rough Hills Plantation

H
erm

itage Bottom

Pear Tree

Broad Ride

Path (um)

Track

Track

House

Workings

GP

MS

Tumulus

1

Horse Guards

Tr
ac

k

Beech Copse

Plantation

Track

Orchard

Path (um
)

Ewe Pens Cottages

Track

(dis)

Tr
ac

k

Trac
k

Little Rough Hills

Walnut

Wellhill Plantation

Track

Track

Track

1

TCB

Track

Oakley Wood

Tr
ac

k

Track

Wood

Track

Track

Twelve Acre Copse

Tr
ac

k

Tr
ac

k

Track

Pond

Seven Rides

Lodge

Tr
ac

k

Manor Farm Cottages
Easton

Cathedral Firs

Haines Ash Bottom

Tr
ac

k

Trac
k

Track

Tr
ac

k

Track

Trac
k

D
rain

Track

Track

Track

Track

STROUD ROAD

Pump House

Square Tower

Track

Track

Tr
ac

k

Track

Two Mile Lodge

Track

Tr
ac

k

Track

Tr
ac

k

The Water Splash

Track

Path (um
)

Clump

Pope's Seat

Track

Ewe Pens

Oakley Wood

Sweethills Plantation

Beech Copse

Rough Hills

Daglingworth

Public Convenience

Tr
ac

k

Track

Tr
ac

k

A 419

Track

Track

Highlands

4

STROUD

The Braddocks

(dis)

Track

Track

2

Oakley

Bungalow

PUBLIC &
PRODUCTION ACCESS

ENTRANCE GATE

The View Point

High Striker

Trampolines
Dodgems

BOH Production Area

Production Camping
Production Car Park

357 Cars

Visitor Car Park
350 Cars Per Hectare

0.85
                    Hectares

300 Cars

The Village Green

Sports Field

Wildwoods

Spa

Activity Area

High Ropes
&
Tree Climbing

The Faiground

N.T.S.

MicroMap Tel 07786 520560
mail@micromap-events.co.uk

CLOUD NINE GLAMPING 2021

Site Area Plan

Working Drawing....Subject to further change
at the discretion of the event organiser.

BATHURST ESTATE
CIRENCESTER

CLOUD NINE SITE BOUNDARY

CLOUD NINE ACTIVITY ZONE

ACCESS ROUTE

BATHURST ESTATE HORSE RIDE

P
age 145

AutoCAD SHX Text
Kitchen

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Boh /

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Crazy Golf

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Laser Tag

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Rain Cover

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Creche

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Super Pirates

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Rope Maze

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
DenBuilding

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
TreeClimbing

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Bed Time Stories & Bushcraft

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Wash Up

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Luxury - 87Singles = 272 Pods = 423 Pods = 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Archery

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
Axe Throwing

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Shower Block 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
Wash Up

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Standard - 70Singles = 302 Pods = 243 Pods = 124 Pods = 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
6 x Bay Shower

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Cricket Pitch

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Running Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Ping Pong

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
ArielWorkshop

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Circus Skills

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Slakeline

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Football Pitch

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Coffee

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Rain Cover

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Info

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Silent Disco

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Activity Hub

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
12 Shower heads 

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Linen/Kit Prep

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
LinenContainer

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Staff Camping

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Kitchen tent

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Staff

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Welfare

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
24'

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Production

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
24'

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Glamping Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
Container

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Trader Camping

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Crew Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
Linen Storage

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Staff Welfare

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
Luxury - 46Singles = 46

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Shower Block 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Coffee

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Reception

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Coffee

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Classic - 27Singles = 92 Pods = 83 Pods = 64 Pods = 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Pamper Tent

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
Restaurant

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Double Lux -16Premium - 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Rain

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
Bar

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
WC

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
TIPI

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
WC

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
TIPI

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
TUB

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
Peppermint

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
Catering

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
Lux

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
SW-JT

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
Event:

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
Revision:

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
Organiser:

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
Drawings By:

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
05/02/21

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
09/02/21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 Representations on Licence Application: C/21/00209/PRMA 

 Address: Cirencester Park, Park Lane, Cirencester, GL7 2BU 

Proposal: Licence for various uses including live/recorded music and serving alcohol. 

 Case Officer: Andrea Thomas 

 Customer Details: Daglingworth Parish Council 

 

 Daglingworth Parish Council makes the following representations for this application on these grounds: 

1. The Application does not make it clear where the access route will connect to public highway. It is therefore 

impossible to know how much inconvenience or nuisance will be caused by vehicles coming into and leaving the site. 

Daglingworth abuts Cirencester Park and the village is frequently troubled by large vehicles causing a nuisance to 

residents. They often damage walls when undertaking turning movements and it is strongly felt that the only 

vehicular access should be from the Stroud Road. The application does not make this clear. Should the licence be 

granted it should be subject to a condition that access/egress should only be via Stroud Road entrance to the Park. 

2. The Application does not provide any indication of the level of sound from the live/recorded music. Over recent years 

Daglingworth has suffered from noise pollution emanating from various events at Cirencester Park. In this quiet Area 

of Outstanding Natural Beauty late night music will travel long distances, particularly bass and drum sounds. Any 

music should be subject to agreed levels of loudness and be monitored by sound equipment. 

3. Whilst the applicants are proposing to “police” any events, this would be difficult to achieve satisfactorily for this 

large site. Controlling trespassers who would seek to crash any event would not be as easy as in say a more urban, 

enclosed location.  

4. We are concerned about the nuisance the activities would cause to the animals in the Park, which nothing can be 

done to mitigate. 

5. The Parish Council would prefer alcohol service to finish no later than 23.00 hrs, should the licence be granted. 

Graham White 

Chair 

Councillor2@daglingworth.org.uk 

 

  

 

 

DAGLINGWORTH PARISH COUNCIL 

Page 147

mailto:Councillor2@daglingworth.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   Annex E 

Objections from Residents 

 

Henrietta Howard 

Thank you for your help in dealing with this unwelcome application for a music and alcohol 

Licence from Cloud Nine for The Bathurst Estate,  this summer. 

 

They have requested a Licence to serve drink and play music, and to park 600 cars together 

with over 200 tents, pop up restaurants, bars and dancing with Band music. The Bathurst 

Estate seem to have no consideration for their neighbours in the village of Daglingworth 

who will be hugely impacted by this.   

 

We recognise we can only object on the grounds of “Public Nuisance” which this 

undoubtedly is.  It is a gross invasion of our “right to a peaceful life” to have to put up with 

loud music and alcohol infused noise from the guests in the tented village until midnight ever 

night for 6 weeks - when considering the grant of a Licence could I ask that you consider if 

this would be something you would enjoy.  There are 200 residents in this village - are we 

to have no peace from 19th July - 30th August? The whole summer? 

 

I would also like to request a Noise Survey as we can already hear endless loudspeaker 

noise from the Polo Grounds in the summer, and motorcycle engines etc from their other 

events. 

 

Liz Keen 

I am objecting to application C/21/00209/PRMA for the following reasons  

1.      Application does not provide any indication of the level of sound from the 

live/recorded music. Over recent years Daglingworth has suffered from noise pollution 

emanating from various events at Cirencester Park. In this quiet Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty late night music will travel long distances, particularly bass and drum sounds. 

Any music should be subject to agreed levels of loudness and be monitored by sound 

equipment. We have endured most years all the loud music and loud speakers from various 

events in the Park but accepted that they were usually one off annual events. The planned 

events by BD Events is going to be disruptive to residents living around the Park at a 

frequency that is not acceptable and does not fit in with the character of the area which has 

been agricultural. 

2.    In the advert in The Times newspaper by Cloud Nine the company who are proposing 

to have 250 tents states " You will also find bars dotted throughout their campsites, so you 

can have a cheeky Bloody Mary with your breakfast, a natter over a pint, or grab a cocktail 

to toast the end of a relaxing day". 

3.    As it is an outdoor event it will be difficult to prevent the noise and vibrations escaping 

to the surrounding residents. The nature and character of the proposed operation in a rural 

area is going to be detrimental to large numbers of wildlife that live in the Park. 

Page 149



4.    The granting of this licence will not be of any benefit to the local community tradesmen, 

restaurants and hotels as the visitors are being encouraged to use the pop up restaurants 

and bars within the Park and will be provided with internal entertainments. It will also be a 

nuisance to local residents. 

 

 

Dr Sonia Pritchard 

Bathurst Developments, in association with Cloud Nine Glamping Adventures, have widely 

advertised activities in Cirencester Park that imply a possession of a Licence under the 

Licencing Act 2003. Consequently, both businesses have considered comments from local 

residents and representations from Responsible Authorities as redundant. However, there 

are a number of concerns with regards to this application. 

There will be ‘bars dotted throughout the campsite’1. The map of the glamping site does not 

show the location of these bars. Also, it is not clear how music is going to be played, and if 

there are going to be live music events. This is of great concern to residents of 

Daglingworth as we have often lost the tranquility of the area due to noise coming from 

events at the Cirencester Polo Club. At present, Bathurst Developments have not provided 

a Noise Assessment for our appraisal.  

Research has clearly shown that noise pollution is also detrimental to wildlife: it affects 

breading success in a number of birds by masking mating sounds; it affects the foraging 

behavior of bats as they cannot hear prey-generated sounds; it disturbs animals’ vigilance 

behaviours (more examples and references will be submitted upon request). 

The glamping site will have two car parks with a joint capacity of 707 spaces. This means 

that there will be a significant movement of cars and utility vehicles to and from the site. 

Even if access and egress is via the Stroud Road entrance to the park, it is inevitable that 

cars will traverse Daglingworth following their GPS devices. This will add to the loss of 

tranquility in the village and will endanger the safety of cyclists and walkers. 

With alcohol served at so many places on the glamping site, there is every opportunity for 

‘jolly crowds’ to disturb the piece of the community, particularly at noise sensitive locations. 

It is not at all clear if there are any measures in place to deal with these scenarios. 

 

                                                           

 

Page 150



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 MATTERS) 
PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINING APPLICATIONS 

 
The four licensing objectives, as given by the Licensing Act 2003, are: 
 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance 

 the protection of children from harm. 
 

Each application that comes before the Sub-Committee will be determined on its own merits, and the licensing authority 
will take its decision based on: 
 

 the merits of the application;  

 the promotion of the four licensing objectives;  

 the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy, a copy of which of which can be obtained from the Licensing 
Section at Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester, Glos., GL7 1PX (Tel. 01285 623000; 
Website: www.cotswold.gov.uk); 

 the amended guidance issued by the Home Office in April 2017 under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 
2003. 

 
1. Following election, the Chairman opens the Meeting, introducing the Members of the Sub-Committee and 
Officers to the Applicant(s) and members of the public, explains the nature of the decision to be taken, and the 
procedure to be followed. 

 
2. The Licensing Officer outlines the application, any relevant representations and relevance to the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy and statutory guidance. 

 
3. Members may ask any relevant questions of the Licensing Officer. 

 
4. The Licensing Officer introduces the Applicant(s) (if present) and the Chairman invites him/her/them, or the 
person representing the Applicant, to present his/her application to the Sub-Committee and to clarify any information 
arising from the Officer’s outline, if necessary. 

 
5. Members may ask relevant questions of the Applicant(s) regarding the application. 

 
6. The Chairman invites those parties, including any interested parties and/or responsible authorities, making 
representations to address the Sub-Committee in turn. 

 
7. Members may ask any relevant questions of those parties making representations. 

 
8. The Applicant(s) may ask any relevant questions of those parties making representations. 

 
9. If necessary, the Sub-Committee will consider requests to allow other parties invited by the Applicant(s) to 
address the Committee. 

 
10. Members may ask any relevant questions of any person invited by the Applicant(s) who addresses the Sub-
Committee. 
 
11. Any parties who have made representations may ask any relevant questions of any person invited by the 
Applicant9s) who addresses the Sub-Committee. 
 
12. The Chairman invites the Applicant(s) and any parties making representations, to briefly summarise their points 
if they wish. 
 
13. The Chairman ascertains that all parties are satisfied they have said all they wish to say. 
 
14. The Sub-Committee debates the application and makes its decision; it may retire to do so, if appropriate. 
 
15. Where a decision is made at the Meeting, the Chairman notifies the Applicant(s):- 
 

 of the decision;  

 the reasons for the decision; 

 any Conditions placed on the licence (if granted), and the licensing objectives they relate to; 

 the rights of appeal, and that the decision will be confirmed in writing as soon as practicable following the 
Meeting, and within the statutory timescales. 

 
 
 
 

Page 151



NOTES 
 
(a) All references to the Sub-Committee relate to any three Member Sub-Committees of the Planning 
and Licensing Committee.  However, a Sub-Committee could decide not to exercise its delegated authority 
and refer an application to the Planning and Licensing Committee for determination, or to the Council (as the 
Licensing Authority).  In such cases, references to ‘the Sub-Committee’ shall relate to the Committee or the 
Council, as appropriate. 
 
(b) All references to the Licensing Officer refer to the Public Protection Manager or other appropriate 
Licensing Officers. 
 
(c) All references to the Applicant(s) refer to the Applicant(s), the licensee or his/her representative. 
 
(d) Hearings will take the form of a discussion led by the Sub-Committee throughout which Members, 
the Applicant(s) and, if appropriate, Officers and other parties, may ask questions. 
 
(e) Parties who have made representations will be invited to address the Sub-Committee in the 
following order, where applicable:- 
  

 Gloucestershire Constabulary; 

 Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service; 

 the Health & Safety Executive; 

 Trading Standards Officer; 

 Child Protection Team 

 Officers of the Council in capacity as Responsible Authorities (health and safety, planning 
and pollution); 

 Health Body; 

 Interested Parties; 

 Ward Member(s). 
 
(f) Each party is allowed a maximum period of 15 minutes to make all of their relevant statements 
unless the Chairman expressly approves otherwise, but the Sub-Committee respectfully requests that all 
parties keep points pertinent and the discussion moving, in the interests of cost and efficiency. 
 
(g) In order to avoid repetition, parties are requested to appoint a spokesperson to address the Sub-
Committee where a number of the same, or similar representations, are being made. 
 
(h) Decisions will generally be taken regardless of whether the Applicant(s) is present.  All notices and 
representations received from absent parties will be considered. 
 
(i) Where the decision is not made at the Meeting, it will be made within five working days of the date 
of that Meeting. 
 
(j) Information which has not been produced prior to a Meeting will not be considered unless with the 
agreement of the Sub-Committee and all relevant parties present. 
 
(k) Any changes in the membership of the Sub-Committee will be announced by the Chairman at the 
start of the Meeting. 
 
(l) The Council is committed to taking decisions in an honest, accountable and transparent fashion but, 
on occasion, may find it necessary to exclude members of the public and Press in accordance with the legal 
framework given in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and/or local policy.  On those 
occasions, decisions based on the above framework will be given.  Similarly, the Council generally will allow 
all parties to ask questions of another party present, but this decision will be taken on a case-by-case basis.  
Cross examination of parties is prohibited except in exceptional circumstances, when a reason will be given. 
 
(m) The Council has the right to exclude parties disrupting this Meeting, at its discretion. 
 

HOUSEKEEPING MATTERS 

 Mobiles phones must be switched off or set to silent; 

 No smoking throughout the building or anywhere on the site; 

 In the event of the fire alarm sounding, Officers will direct you to the meeting point 

 
(END) Page 152


	Agenda
	4 Application for a new premises licence - Bathurst Park, Cirencester
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex A
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex B (i)
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex B (ii)
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex B (iii)
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex C
	Sheets and Views
	SHOW SITE


	Agenda Item 4 - Annex D
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex E
	Agenda Item 4 - Annex F


